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Endorsement and Statement by the Board of
Directors and the CEO

Operations in 2007

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Kaupthing Bank hf. for the year ended 31 December 2007 include the Financial
Statements of Kaupthing Bank hf. and its subsidiaries, together referred to as "the Bank".

Net earnings, according to the Consolidated Income Statement, amounted to ISK 71,191 million for the year ended 31
December 2007. The Board of Directors proposes a payment of dividend, ISK 20 per share or ISK 14,810 million, which is
21% of net earnings for the year. Total Equity, according to the Consolidated Balance Sheet, amounted to ISK 356,431
million at the end of the year, including share capital amounting to ISK 7,371 million. The equity ratio of the Bank, calculated
according to the Act on Financial Undertakings, was 11.8%. This ratio may not be lower than 8.0%.

At the end of year 2007 the Bank's shareholders numbered 32,264 compared to 31,730 at the beginning of the year. At
the end of the year, one shareholder held more than 10.0% of the shares in the Bank, Exista B.V., which owned 23.26% of
the shares.

In April the Bank sold all shares in the wholly owned subsidiary Eik fasteignafélag hf. The Bank generated a profit before
taxes of ISK 4,262 million on this transaction, which was booked in the second quarter of 2007.

In August 2007 the Bank entered into an agreement to purchase the entire share capital of NIBC N.V. for EUR 2,985 million.
On 29 January 2008 the Bank came to an agreement with the Sellers that both parties relinquish from their prior agreement.

In December the Bank sold its operation in the Faroe Islands.

In May the Bank increased its holding in the Norwegian insurance and financial services company Storebrand ASA to 20% of
the company's outstanding shares.

Share Capital and Articles of Association

The share capital of the Bank amounted to ISK 7,405 million at year-end. The Bank owns treasury shares with nominal value
of ISK 34 million. The share capital is divided into shares of ISK 10 each with equal rights within a single class of shares listed
on the Iceland Stock Exchange (OMX Iceland) and Stockholm Stock Exchange (OMX Sweden). The Board of Directors has the
right to increase the share capital of the Bank by the nominal value of ISK 1,500 million with sale of new shares.
Shareholders have waived the pre-emptive rights to these shares. The Board of Directors will decide the sale price and sale
rules. The Board of Directors has the right to purchase up to 10% of the nominal value of the shares of the Bank, provided
that the purchase price in not more than 20% higher or 20% lower than the last quoted price in the Iceland Stock Exchange
or Stockholm Stock Exchange.

Share option agreements have been concluded with employees of the Bank, which enables them to purchase shares in the
Bank at the exercise price of ISK 51 to ISK 1,224 over a period of 3 to 6 years, given that they are employeed by the Bank
during that time. Further information on the share option program is in note 116.

In the course of the Bank's normal business it has entered into agreements with employees which may be affected by the
event of a take-over or termination without cause. The Board of Directors considers none of these to be of material
importance to the Bank's operation.
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Endorsement and Statement by the Board of
Directors and the CEO

The Bank's Board of Directors comprises nine members elected at the Annual General Meeting. Those persons willing to
stand for election shall give formal notice thereof in writing to the Bank's Board at least full seven days before the beginning
of the meeting. The Bank's Articles of Association can only be amended with the approval of 2/3 of casted votes in a legal
shareholders' meeting, provided that the notification calling the meeting thoroughly informs on such amendment and what
the amendment consists in.

Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

The Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31. December 2007 have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and additional Icelandic disclosure
requirements for consolidated financial statements of listed companies.

According to our best knowledge it is our opinion that the Annual Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial performance of the Bank for the financial year 2007, its assets, liabilities and consolidated
financial position as at 31 December 2007 and its consolidated cash flows for the financial year 2007.

Further, in our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Endorsement of the Board of Directors and the CEOQ
gives a fair view of the development and performance of the Bank's operations and its position and describes the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Bank.

The Board of Directors and the CEO have today discussed the Annual Consolidated Financial Statements of Kaupthing Bank
hf. for the year 2007 and confirm them by means of their signatures. The Board of Directors and the CEO recommend that
the Consolidated Financial Statements will be approved at the Annual General Meeting of Kaupthing Bank hf.

Reykjavik, 30 January 2008

Board of Directors
Sigurdur Einarsson

Chairman
Antonios P. Yerolemou Asgeir Thoroddsen
Bjarnfredur H. Olafsson Brynja Halldérsdottir
Gunnar Pall Palsson Hjorleifur Thor Jakobsson
Niels de Coninck-Smith Tommy Persson
CEO

Hreidar Mdar Sigurdsson
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kaupthing Bank hf.

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Kaupthing Bank hf. and its subsidiaries (the
"Bank"), which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007, the Consolidated Income Statement,
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Financial Statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial
Statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
Kaupthing Bank hf. as at 31 December 2007, of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Reykjavik, 30 January 2008

KPMG hf.

Saemundur Valdimarsson

Reynir Stefan Gylfason
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year 2007

Notes
INEEIEST INCOME .ttt ettt ettt ettt et
Interest expense ...
N L= 0 0 (=T (=T A T o] o T 44
Fee and COMMISSION INCOME ....uiiiiiii ittt
Fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE .......iiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt e e
Net fee and COMMISSION INCOME.......c.ciciueui ettt st eee e ea e ee e et st ene e e ene e 45
Net fINANCIAL INCOME ...t 46-51
Share of profit Of @SSOCIAES ..........ccviiiiieiiie et 73
Other OPErating INCOME .......oiuiiiiiiit ettt ettt ettt et enees 52
OPErating iNCOME. ... ettt e e e e e e ee e e eae e e saeeae s
Salaries and related EXPENSES ........c.iiiiiieie ettt 54-55
AdMINISTrAtioN EXPENSES ... ettt
Depreciation and @mMOItISAtION ........c.coiiiiiiii ettt 79
Other OPErating EXPENSES ... ..iiiiie ittt ettt ettt et e e
IMPAIMMENT ON TOGNS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt 57
IMPAITMENT ON OTNEI @SSETS ...t 57
Earnings before iNCOME TaX.........ccour ittt et
INCOME X EXPEINSE ...ttt ettt ettt e e e 58
NET QAININGS....... et b b ee e e e e e e e e e e eae e eae s
Attributable to:
Shareholders of Kaupthing Bank hf. .........ocoiiiiii e
IMIINOTTEY INTEIEST ...ttt ettt
NET QAININGS....... et b b ee e e ee e ee e ee e e e e e eae e e
Earnings per share
Basic €arnings Per SNAre (ISK) ......ooiiiiiieie ettt 59
Diluted earnings per share (ISK) 59

The notes on pages 11 to 72 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2007 2006
304,331 187,451
(224,218) (135,089)

80,113 52,362
64,865 40,904
(9,844) (3,620)
55,021 37,284
14,433 60,157
3,459 1,194
12,792 16,219
165,818 167,216
(46,647) (33,570)
(24,693) (19,800)
(6,550) (5,976)
(841) (660)
(6,098) (4,857)
(82) (1,270)
80,907 101,083
(9,716) (14,636)
71,191 86,447
70,020 85,302
1.171 1,145
71,191 86,447
95.2 1271
93.3 123.4

Amounts are in ISK millions




Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2007

Notes 2007 2006
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks ............ccc.ooiiiiiiiiii e 60 97,959 106,961
Loans to credit iNSTItULIONS ........c..iiiii e 61 588,441 485,334
LOANS 1O CUSTOIMETS ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e 62-68 3,304,408 2,538,609
Bonds and debt iNStrUMENTS ..........oooiiiiiii e 69 367,350 318,264
Shares and instruments with variable iNCOME .............cc.oooiiiiiiiii e 69 160,797 159,020
DIBIIVATIVES ...ttt 69,96 134,856 65,454
Derivatives used for NEAGiNg .........ociiiiiiiiii e 69,96 22,503 6,453
Securities used for NeAGING .....c..oiiiiiii i 69 159,949 115,938
[NVESTMENTS IN @SSOCIATES ....viiiiiiiie ettt 73 83,831 5,304
INTANGIDIE @SSETS ...ttt 74-75 66,774 68,301
INVESTMENT PrOPEITY ...ttt 76-77 28,155 31,584
Property and @QUIPIMENT .......cuiiiiie ittt 78-80 32,714 30,466
Tax assets 87-90 6,899 5,834
OFNEI @SSEIS ... 81 292,709 117,874
Total Assets 5,347,345 4,055,396
Liabilities
Due to credit institutions and central banks ............ccccviiiii i 69 339,088 110,456
DBPOSIES ettt 69 1,381,457 750,658
Financial liabilities measured at fair value ... 217,945 71,264
BOITOWINGS ..ttt 82 2,615,960 2,399,939
SUDOIAINATEA [OANS ... 83 267,289 216,030
Tax HADIIIIES ... 87-90 22,478 23,209
Other IabIlItIES ..o 91-92 146,697 148,948
Total Liabilities 4,990,914 3,720,504
Equity
SHAIE CAPITAl ..o 7,371 7,321
SNAME PIEMIUM L.ttt 162,221 164,028
ORI TESEIVES ... (14,627) 17,220
RELAINEA BAMINGS ...ttt 190,643 134,941
Total Shareholders' Equity ~ 93-95 345,608 323,510
MINOITLY INTEIEST ..ot 10,823 11,382
Total Equity 356,431 334,892
Total Liabilities and Equity 5,347,345 4,055,396

The notes on pages 11 to 72 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year 2007

Total
Share capital Share-

and share Other Retained holders' Minority Total

premium reserves earnings equity interest equity
2007
Equity 1 January 2007 ......c.oovoiiiiiiiieee e 171,349 17,220 134,941 323,510 11,382 334,892
Translation differenCe ........c.ooeeoeeeeee e (31,866) (31,866) (358) (32,224)
Fair value changes in financial assets available-for-sale ............ 19 19 19
Net loss recognised directly in equity ........ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiii. (31,847) (31,847) (358) (32,205)
Net earnings according to the Income Statement .................... 70,020 70,020 1,171 71,191
Total recognised earnings for the year .............c.cccoeeeeiiirennnn. (31,847) 70,020 38,173 813 38,986
Dividends paid to shareholders, ISK 14 per share ..................... (10,272) (10,272) (10,272)
Purchases and sales of treasury stock ...........cccoeivviieiiiiiennnn. (3,995) (3,995) (3,995)
Exercised stock OpPtioNs ........ccoooiiiiiiiiiii 716 716 716
Stock option expense 1,522 1,522 1,522
Restating the initial investments in shares ... (5,111) (5,111) (5,111)
Other Changes .......ooviiiiiii e 1,065 1,065 (1,372) (307)
Equity 31 December 2007 ........coeieieieieee e 169,592 (14,627) 190,643 345,608 10,823 356,431
2006
Equity 1 January 2006 .........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiencne e 121,244 (1,540) 74,479 194,183 8,329 202,512
Translation difference ..o 18,289 18,289 2,176 20,465
Fair value changes in financial assets available-for-sale ............ 9) 9) 9)
Deferred PENSION FESEIVE .......c.cociiviiiiiiieieeie e 480 480 480
Net earnings recognised directly in equity 18,760 18,760 2,176 20,936
Net earnings according to the Income Statement .................... 85,302 85,302 1,145 86,447
Total recognised earnings for the year ............cccoceoviiiiiiennnn. 18,760 85,302 104,062 3,321 107,383
Dividends paid to shareholders, ISK 37.6 per share .................. (24,814) (24,814) (24,814)
Issued new share capital ........c.oocooviiiiiiiiciec 55,558 55,558 55,558
Purchases and sales of treasury stock ..........cccoviiviiiiiinninnne. (6,024) (6,024) (6,024)
Exercised StoCk OPtIONS ......coviiiiiiiiiiiceecee e 571 571 571
Other ChaNgEs ......ooviiiiiiice e (26) (26) (268) (294)
Equity 31 December 2006 171,349 17,220 134,941 323,510 11,382 334,892

The notes on pages 11 to 72 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year 2007

2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Earnings DEOre taX INCOME. ... .oiuiii ettt ettt ettt 80,906 101,083
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash flow (used in) from operating activities:
Non-cash items included in net earnings and other adjUSTMENTS...........ooiiiiiiiiiiii e (28,057) 1,481
Changes in operating assets and lADIIIES. ..........oviiiiii e 49,421  (144,389)

Income taxes paid (10,154) (8,115)

92,116 (49,940)

Cash flows from investing activities:

INVeStMENt iN aSSOCIAtEA COMPANIES. ... ..c.viiiiiie ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et te e e (26,329) (5,400)
Proceeds from sale of assoCiated COMPANIES. ..........ouiiuiiiiii ettt 512 20,266
Dividend received from SUDSIIAIES. .........iiiiiii ittt 149 4,103
PUICNAse Of INTANGIDIE @SSEIS. .. ..iuiiiuiiie ottt ettt ettt (2,654) (1,810)
Proceeds from sale of INtanNGIbIE @SSETS.........iiiiiiii i 77 0
PUICHAse Of INVESTMENT PIOPEITY ... i iuiiii ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ene e (10,293) (3,475)
Proceeds from sale Of INVESTMENT PrOPEITY.. ..ottt 13,473 5,367
Purchase of property and EQUIDIMENT..........oiiiiiii oottt ettt ettt et e (12,453) (13,818)
Proceeds from sale of property and eQUIPMENT.........c..iiiiiiii e 2,283 3,283
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, 1855 Cash aCQUINEA.............ccooiiiiiiiiiii e (3,320) 0
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash diSPOSE..............cccviiiiiiiiiie e 7,808 0
OtNBE CNANGES. ...ttt ettt ettt a ettt h ettt ettt ettt (3,312) 221
Net cash (used in) from investing activities (34,059) 8,737

Cash flows from financing activities:

Subordinated 10an CAPItal ISSUET. ...... ..ottt 51,666 111,336
Subordinated 10an CaPItal FEPAIG. .........coiiiiii i (407) (2,601)
Purchases of own shares to meet share awards and share Option @Wards. .............cccoovieviiiiciioiie e (3,995) (5,800)
Proceeds from the iSSUE OF SNAIES.........oiiiii et 0 55,558
DIVIAENAS PAIG. ...ttt ettt a et e e e ettt et et e e e (10,272) (24,814)

36,992 133,679

Net increase in cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS. ..o e 95,049 92,476
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 202,789 81,758
Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash NEI.............c.ooiiiiii e (9,279) 28,555
Cash and cash equivalents at YEAr-BNG. ... ..o o oottt e et eac e eae e ae e eesaeaeeneenean 288,559 202,789

The notes on pages 11 to 72 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year 2007 - notes

Non-cash items in the Income Statement and other adjustments: 2007 2006
IMP@ITMENT ON TOBNS. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ene e 6,743 4,857
Depreciation and @mMOTTISAtION. ... ...ttt 6,551 5,976
IMPAIrMENT ON INTANGIDIE ASSETS......iviiii ittt 82 1,270
Share of Profit Of @SSOCIATES. .. .....iiiiiiie et (3,459) (1,194)
Investment property, fair Value ChanGe..........ouiiii e 219 (96)
Net gain on disposal Of INVESTMENT PIrOPEITY.......oviiiiiieie ettt 0 (3,020)
Indexation and exchange rate diffEreNCe.........oiiiiiiiie e (30,884) 2,689
Net gain on disposal on property and EQUIPIMENT.........c.ciiiiiiiii it (845) (303)
Net gain on a disposal Of SUDSIAIAITES. ..........ooiiiiiie e (5,962) (8,398)
Share based payment expenses... 1,522 571
Changes in other non cash items (2,024) (871)

(28,057) 1,481
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(o= LT OO SO PU PR OPU ST (769,465)  (1,253,947)
Financial assets measured at fair ValUe...........ooiiiiii i (207,671) (51,150)
Derivatives USed fOr NBAGING. ........oiiiiiiiie et (15,980) (2,016)
Financial assets available for sale. (1 3
I RO 1= TSSO P PPN 1,136 (3,060)
(04 T= T ) OSSP S PSS PRUSRSPN (176,239) (82,894)
DPIOSIES. .ttt 862,168 301,998
BOITOWINGS. .. .eeiiiciiieecece 216,958 834,270
Financial liabilities, measured at fair ValUE...........ooiiiiiiiii e 147,362 10,872
P OVISTONS. ..ttt ettt (4,647) 1,378
TAX NTADIITIES. ...ttt 1 (1,788)
OTNEE TTADIIITIES. ...ttt ettt 2,428 101,945

56,060 (144,389)

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end:

Cash in hand and demand deposits 97,959 95,828
DUE Trom Credit INSHEUTIONS. ... ...eiiie et 197,240 106,961
Cash and cash equivalents at Year-eNd.............ooiiiiii i e 295,199 202,789

The notes on pages 11 to 72 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

1. Reporting entity

Kaupthing Bank hf., the Parent Company, is a company incorporated and domiciled in Iceland. The address of Kaupthing Bank's registered office
is Borgartun 19, Reykjavik. The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 2007 comprise Kaupthing Bank hf. and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as "the Bank"). The Bank offers integrated financial services to companies, institutional investors and individuals. These services
include corporate banking, investment banking, retail banking, capital markets services, asset management and comprehensive wealth
management for private banking clients.

2. Basis of preparation

a) Statement of compliance
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRs) as adopted by
the EU.

The Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of Kaupthing Bank hf. on 30 January 2008.

b) Basis of measurement
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:
— Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value
—  Financial instruments held for trading are measured at fair value
— Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value
- Financial instruments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value
— Investment properties are measured at fair value

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, unless IFRS 5
requires that another measurement basis be used.

<) Functional and presentation currency
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Icelandic krona (ISK), which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. Except as
indicated, financial information presented in ISK has been rounded to the nearest million.

o
=

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions.
These judgements, estimates and assumptions affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as
well as income and expenses in the Financial Statement presented. Actual results may differ from the estimates and the assumption made.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effect on the Financial Statements and estimates with a
significant risk of material adjustment within the next financial year are discussed in note 38.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements, and
have been applied consistently by Bank entities.

3. Basis of consolidation

a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Bank. Control exists when the Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Control usually exists when the Bank holds more than the 50% of the voting power of the
subsidiary. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The Financial
Statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases.

Kaupthing Bank hf. Financial Statements 2007 12 Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. cont.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Bank. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value, at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued, plus cost directly
attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Bank's share of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the Income Statement.

b) Special purpose entities
Special purpose entities are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective such as the securitisation of particular
assets, or the execution of a specific borrowing or lending transaction. The Financial Statements of special purpose entities are included in the
Bank's Consolidated Financial Statements where the substance of the relationship is that the Bank controls the special purpose entity.

<) Funds management
The Bank manages and administers assets held in unit trusts and other investment vehicles on behalf of investors. The Financial Statements of
these entities are not included in these Consolidated Financial Statements except when the Bank controls the entity. Information about the Bank's
funds management and securitisation activities is set out in note 71.

d) 7ransactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances, unrealised income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associated entities are eliminated to the extent of the Bank's interest in the entity.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

4. Associates

Associates are those entities over which the Bank has significant influence, i.e. the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the associates but not control or joint control over those policies. Significant influence generally exists when the Bank holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power, including potential voting rights. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost. The carrying
amount of investments in associates includes goodwill and accumulated impairment loss.

Investments in associates held as venture capital in Investment Banking are not accounted for on an equity basis but are designated upon initial
recognition as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Bank's share of the total recognised income and expenses of associates on an equity
accounted investees, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Bank's share
of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate, the Bank's carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Bank has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the
associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share
of losses not recognised.

If an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale the equity method is no longer applied and the investment is accounted for as non-
current assets held for sale.

5.  Foreign currency

a) Functional currencies
[tems included in the Financial Statements of each of the Bank's entities are measured using the functional currency of the respective entity.

b) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Bank entities at exchange rates at the dates of
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured
at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity
instruments or financial instruments designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation which are recognised directly in equity.
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C) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to Icelandic
krona, at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Icelandic krona at average
exchange rates approximating the exchange rates current at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in equity. Since 1 January 2004, the Bank's date of transition to IFRSs,
such differences have been recognised in the Translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount
in the Translation reserve is transferred to the Income Statement.

d) Hedges of net investment in foreign operations
See accounting policy 10d.

6. Income and Expense

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial
recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently.

Q
=

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees and points paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal
of a financial asset or liability.

Interest income and expense presented in the income statement include:

— Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis,

— Unwinding of the discount on impaired financial assets,

— Interest on trading assets and liabilities on an accrual basis,

— Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss on an accrual basis,
— Interest on derivatives designated as hedging instruments on an accrual basis.

b) Fee and commission income and expense
The Bank provides various services to its clients and earns income there from, such as income from Investment Banking, Corporate Banking,
Capital Markets, Asset Management and Retail Banking. Fees earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time are recognised
as the services are provided. Fees earned from transaction-type services are recognised when the service has been completed. Fees that are
performance-linked are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled. Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the
effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Net financial income
Net financial income comprises Dividend income, Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, Net foreign
exchange gain and Net gain on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value.

g)
~

i) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

i) Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss comprises Net gain on trading portfolio, Net gain on assets and
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss and Fair value adjustments on hedge accounting .

Net gain on trading portfolio

Net gains on financial instruments held for trading comprise gains and losses related to financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading,
and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, except for interest (which is included in "Interest income" and "Interest expense") and
foreign exchange gains and losses (which are included in "Net foreign exchange gains" as described below).

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are classified as held for trading and which are economic hedges of
financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are included in "Net gains on financial instruments designated
at fair value through profit or loss".
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Net gain on assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss

Net gains on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss comprise gains and losses related to financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, except for interest (which is
included in "Interest income" and "Interest expense") and foreign exchange gains and losses (which are included in "Net foreign exchange
gains" as described below).

Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting
Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting comprises gains and losses arising from the entire change in fair value of hedging instruments in fair
value hedges and gains and losses on hedged items attributable to the risks being hedged.

=

Net foreign exchange gains comprise all foreign exchange differences arising on the settlement of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities
and on translating foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition
during the period or in previous financial statements, except for differences arising on financial instruments designated as hedging instruments of
net investments in foreign operations (see note 5).

Net foreign exchange gains also include foreign exchange differences arising on translating non-monetary assets and liabilities which are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies and whose other gains and losses are also recognised in profit or loss.

) Net gain on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss relates to derecognition of certain financial assets and liabilities
and comprises Net realised gain on loans and finance leases, Net realised gain on available-for-sale assets, Net realised gain on financial liabilities
measured as amortised cost, and other net realised gain. It does not include either unrealised foreign exchange gains or interest income and
expense which are included in other line items.

) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received
are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability.
The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease
when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Income Statement except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

The deferred income tax asset / liability has been calculated and entered in the Balance Sheet. The calculation is based on the difference between
Balance Sheet items as presented in the tax return on the one hand, and in the Financial Statements on the other, taking into consideration a
carry-forward tax loss. This difference is due to the fact that tax assessments are based on premises that differ from those governing the Financial
Statements, mostly because revenues, especially of financial assets, are recognised earlier in the Financial Statements than in the tax return. A
deferred tax asset is only offset against income tax liability if they are due to tax assessment from the same tax authorities.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss
are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of
the assets, and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of a financial asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as described below.
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a) /mpairment on loans
The Bank recognises losses for impaired loans when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or portfolio of loans has occurred. This is
done on a consistent basis in accordance with the Bank's guidelines.

There are two basic methods of calculating impairment losses, those calculated on individual loans and those losses assessed on a collective basis.
Losses expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data about the following loss events:
i) Significant financial difficulty of the borrower;
ii) A breach of contract, such as a default on instalments or on interest or principal payments;

iii) The Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, a refinancing concession, that
the lender would not otherwise consider;

iv) It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or undergo other financial reorganisation;
v) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

vi) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of loans since the initial
recognition of those assets, even if the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:

— Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
—  General national or local economic conditions connected with the assets in the group.

Individually assessed loans

Impairment losses on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the exposures on a case-by-case basis. The Bank assesses
at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a loan is impaired. This procedure is applied to all accounts that are
considered individually significant. In determining such impairment losses on individually assessed accounts, the following factors are considered:

— The Bank’s aggregate exposure to the customer;

— The amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;

— The likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;

— The complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to which legal and insurance
uncertainties are evident;

— The realisable value of security (or other credit mitigates) and likelihood of successful repossession; and

— The likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding.

Impairment loss is calculated by comparing the present value of the expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate of
the loan, with its current carrying value and the amount of any loss is charged in the Income Statement. The carrying amount of impaired loans is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. In the case of a loan at variable interest rates, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

Collectively assessed loans

Where loans have been individually assessed and no evidence of loss has been identified, these loans are grouped together on the basis of similar
credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating a collective impairment loss. This loss covers loans that are impaired at the reporting date
but which will not be individually identified as such until some time in the future. The estimated collective impairment loss is recognised through
the use of an allowance account.

The collective impairment loss is determined after taking into account:

—  Future cash flows in a group of loans evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets;

— Historical loss experience in portfolios of similar risk characteristics (for example, by industry sector, loan grade or product);

— The estimated period between a loss occurring and that loss being identified and evidenced by the establishment of an allowance against
the loss on an individual loan;

—  Future cash flows in a group of loans evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash; and

— Management’s experienced judgement as to whether the current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual level of
inherent losses is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by historical experience.

The estimated period between a losses occurring and its identification is determined for each identified portfolio.
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Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should be consistent with changes in observable data from period to period, for
example, changes in property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses on the group and their
magnitude. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Bank to minimise any
differences between loss estimates and actual losses.

Loan write-offs
Loans are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of these amounts and, for collateralised
loans, when the proceeds from the realisation of security have been received.

Reversals of impairment

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. The amount of any reversal is recognised in the Income
Statement.

Assets acquired in exchange for loans

Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loans in order to achieve an orderly realisation are recorded as assets held for sale and reported in
the Balance Sheet. The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan, net of
impairment allowance amounts, at the date of exchange. No depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-
down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment loss and included in the Income Statement. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment loss, is recognised in the Income
Statement.

b) /mpairment of financial assets available-for-sale
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Bank evaluates
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in
the financial strength of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows. The
amount of impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement. Impairment losses are subsequently reversed if the reasons for the impairment
loss charged no longer apply.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Bank's investments in financial assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial
assets.

n
~

o
=

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of financial assets carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale is not reversed through profit or loss. If the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the Income Statement, the impairment loss shall be reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in the
Income Statement.

However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised directly in equity. Changes in
impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest income.

e) Impairment on investments in associates

After applying the equity method to account for investments in associates, the Bank determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss with respect to its net investments in associates. The Bank first determines whether there is any objective evidence that a net
investments in an associate is impaired in the same way as for available-for-sale equity instruments (see 7.b above). If such evidence exists, the
Bank then tests the entire carrying amount of the investment for impairment, by comparing its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell, with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount of an investment in an associate is assessed for each
associate, unless the associate does not generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of those from other assets of the
Bank. The excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount is recognised in income statement as an impairment loss. Impairment losses
are subsequently reversed through Income Statement if the reasons for the impairment loss no longer apply.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank's non-financial assets, other than investment property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine, whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
The recoverable amount of goodwill is estimated at each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent of other assets and groups. Impairment losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill associated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at
each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Derivatives

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract, the value of which changes in response to a change in an underlying variable, such as
share, commodity or bond prices, an index value or an exchange or interest rate, which requires no initial net investment or initial net investment
that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors
and which is settled at a future date.

The Bank uses derivatives for trading purposes and to hedge its exposure to market price risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk arising from
operating, financing and investing activities.

Derivatives are recognised at fair value. Fair value changes are recognised in the Income Statement, except in the case of derivatives that are
designated and are effective hedging instruments, whose fair value changes are recognised in accordance with the accounting policies in note 10.
Changes in fair values of derivatives are split into interest income, foreign exchange differences and other gains and losses. Interest income is
recognised on accrual basis. Derivatives with positive fair values are recognised as Derivatives and derivatives with negative fair values are
recognised as Financial liabilities measured at fair value.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a "host contract"). The Bank accounts for embedded derivatives separately
from the host contract when the host contract is not itself carried at fair value through profit or loss, and the characteristics of the embedded
derivatives are not clearly and closely related to the host contract. Separated embedded derivatives are accounted for depending on their
classification, and are presented in the Balance Sheet together with the host contract.

The fair value of derivatives is determined in accordance with the accounting policy presented in note 13.
Hedging

Due to the Bank's risk positions and funding structure, its risk management policies require that the Bank should minimise its exposure to changes
in foreign currency rates and manage interest rate risk, credit risk and market price risk exposure within certain guidelines (see also separate
section on risk management). The Bank uses both derivative and securities to manage the potential earnings impact of these risks. Securities
comprise bonds and other debt instruments as well as shares and other equity instruments.

Several types of derivatives are used for this purpose, including interest rate swaps, currency swaps, options, financial futures, forward contracts
and other derivatives. The purpose of the Bank’s hedging activities is to protect the Bank from the risk that the net cash inflows will be adversely
affected by changes in interest or exchange rates, credit ratings or market prices. The Bank enters into transactions to ensure that it is
economically hedged in accordance with risk management policies. For qualifying hedge relationships, the Bank uses hedge accounting.

Each qualifying hedge relationship is evidenced and driven by management’s approach to risk management and the decision to hedge the
particular risk. Where hedge accounting is applied the Bank assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and each time the Bank prepares its
annual or interim Financial Statements, whether the derivatives used as hedges are highly effective in offsetting the changes in value or cash flows
associated with the hedged items. A hedge is normally regarded as highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item
are expected to almost fully offset the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument. Actual effectiveness results must be within a
range of 80 to 125 percent on a cumulative basis. The designation and effectiveness measurement follows the methodologies that management
has in place for risk identification and measurement. The ineffective portion of any gain or loss on a hedging instrument is recognised in the
Income Statement.
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The Bank's risk management activities concentrate on hedging the Bank’s net exposure based on its asset and liability positions. Therefore the
Bank monitors its interest rate risk exposures by reviewing the net asset or liability gaps within repricing bands. For hedge accounting purposes,
the Bank designates the benchmark interest rate exposure of a portion of the underlying gross exposure as the hedged item and the hedge
relationship is viewed at a micro level, considering only the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

Where the Bank hedges a portfolio of loans in respect of interest rate risk it groups the loans into homogenous layers, each with specific
maturities.
The Bank designates hedge relationships only for fair value hedge accounting and net investments in foreign operations.

The treatment of changes in fair value depends on their classification into the following categories:

=

Fair value hedges
Fair value hedges seek to eliminate risks of changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or firm commitment that will give rise to a
gain or loss that will be recognised in the Income Statement.

When a derivative hedges the changes in fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or an identified portion of such assets or liabilities, any gain or
loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the Income Statement. The hedged items are also stated at fair value in respect of the risk being
hedged, with any gain or loss being recognised in the Income Statement. The gains and losses on the hedging instruments and hedge items, are
presented together in the Income Statement as part of Net financial income except for the changes in fair values of derivatives used as hedging
instruments that relate to interest income (see note 9). Fair value changes of derivatives used as hedging instruments are included in Net interest
income.

If the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, it no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge accounting, or the designation is
revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued. Any adjustment up to that point, to a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used, is
amortised to profit or loss as part of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over its remaining life.

Other non-trading derivatives
When a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all changes in its fair value are recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a component of Net financial income and Net interest income.

) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations seek to eliminate the exposure to foreign currency risks of the net investments.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations and of related hedges are taken to Translation
reserve in equity. The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation that is determined to be
an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. The ineffective portion is recognised immediately in Net financial income. They are recycled and
recognised in Net financial income upon disposal of the operation. In respect of all foreign operations, any differences that have arisen before 1
January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, are presented as retained earnings in the equity statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows consist of cash, demand deposits with the central banks and demand
deposits with other credit institutions.

Loans

Loans are non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Bank
does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans include loans provided by the Bank to credit institutions and to its customers,
participation in loans from other lenders and purchased loans.

When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the
lessee, the arrangement is presented within loans.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a
fixed price on a future date reverse repo or stock borrowing, the arrangement is accounted for as a loan, and the underlying asset is not
recognised in the Bank's Financial Statements.

Loans are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the

effective interest method, except when the Bank chooses to carry the loans at fair value through profit or loss as described in accounting policy 13
b). Accrued interest is included in the carrying amount of the loans.
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss.
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Trading assets
Trading assets are financial instruments acquired principally for the purpose of generating profits from short-term price fluctuations or from a
dealer’s margin.

=

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank classifies certain financial assets upon their initial recognition as financial assets held at fair value with fair value changes recognised in
the Income Statement as Net financial income if doing so results in more relevant information because:

i) the assets are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis;
ii) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or
iii) the assets contain an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

The assets classified according to the above-mentioned conditions consist of:

i) fixed interest rate loans originated by the Bank whose fixed interest has been changed into floating by entering into corresponding interest
rate swaps;

ii) equity and debt instruments which are acquired by the Bank with a view to profiting from their total return and which are managed and
evaluated on a fair value basis, including equity instruments held by the venture capital organisation of the Bank which give the Bank
significant influence over the issuer but not control;

iii) structured products that contain embedded derivatives; and

iv) mortgage loans originated by the Bank's subsidiary in Denmark. These are financial assets that are granted by the Bank by providing money
directly to a debtor. They are initially recorded at fair value, which is the cash given to originate the loan and are subsequently measured at
fair value. The fair value of mortgage loans is based on the fair value of the underlying mortgage bonds.

Interest and dividend income that arises from these assets are included in Interest income and Net financial income, respectively. Interest income
on debt instruments is recognised on an accrual basis.

Financial assets available-for-sale
Financial assets available-for-sale consists of unlisted equity instruments held for long time investment purposes.

Financial assets available-for-sale are recognised at fair value. Unrealised gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised in equity,
net of income taxes, until such investments are disposed of or until they are determined to be impaired. On disposal of an available-for-sale
investment, the accumulated unrealised gain or loss included in equity is transferred to the Income Statement and recognised in Net gain on
financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses on disposal are determined using the average cost method.

Dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets is included in Dividend income in the Income Statement. Exchange rate differences arising
on equity instruments are recognised in equity.

Determination of fair value

The determination of fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are quoted in an active market is based on quoted prices. A market
is considered active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm's length basis. For all other financial instruments fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques include net present value techniques, the discounted cash flow method, comparison to similar instruments for which market
observable prices exist, and valuation models. The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and
more simpler financial instruments like options and interest rate and currency swaps. For these financial instruments, inputs into models are
market observable.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses proprietary models, which usually are developed from recognised valuation models. Some or all of
the inputs into these models may not be market observable, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions.
When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognised initially at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value,
although the value obtained from the valuation model may differ from the transaction price. This initial difference, usually an increase, in fair
value indicated by valuation techniques is recognised in income depending upon the individual facts and circumstances of each transaction and
not later than when the market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a number of factors as appropriate, because valuation
techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors market participants take into account when entering into a transaction. Valuation adjustments
are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, as well as other factors. Management believes that these valuation
adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state financial instruments carried at fair value on the Balance Sheet.
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Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised using trade date accounting, i.e. they are recognised on the date on which the Bank
commits to purchase or sell the asset, except for loans which are recognised when cash is advanced to the borrowers.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Bank has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the liability instrument. Financial liabilities are
derecognised when the obligation of the Bank specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount reported in the Balance Sheet when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains or losses arising from a group of
similar transactions such as in the Bank's trading activity.

Amortised cost measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount
recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

Repurchase agreements

A repurchase agreement involves the sale of securities subject to the simultaneous agreement to repurchase the same securities at a certain later
date and at an agreed price. In repurchase agreements, the cash received, including accrued interest is recognised in the Balance Sheet. The
proceeds from the legal sale of these securities are reported as borrowings.

The control of the securities remains with the Bank throughout the entire term of the transaction and the securities continue to be reported in the
Bank's Balance Sheet as Bonds and debt instruments, as appropriate. Interest incurred is recognized as interest expense over the life of each
agreement.

Leases

The Bank classifies leases based on the extent of the transfer of risks and rewards incidental to ownership of leased assets. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if the lessor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if the
lessor does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases - lessor
When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the
lessee, the arrangement is presented within loans.

Operating leases - lessee

Property and equipment which the Bank leases to third parties under operating leases are classified in the Balance Sheet as Investment property or
Property and equipment on a property-by-property basis. Lease payments under operating leases where the Bank is the lessee are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets

Gooawill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries.

=

Acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004
In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount recognised
under previous GAAP.

Acquisitions on or after 1 January 2004

All business combinations after 1 January 2004 are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Goodwill has been recognised on the
acquisition of subsidiaries and associates. In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January 2004, goodwill represents the
difference between the cost of the acquisition and the net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree.
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21. cont.

Acquisitions of minority interests
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a minority interest in a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of the additional investment over the
carrying amount of the net assets acquired at the date of exchange.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

b) Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill that are acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Software and customer base are examples of other intangible assets.

C) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

d) Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. Goodwill is
systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

SOTEWAIE ...ttt 5 years
CUSTOMIE DASE. ... ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e st o2t h e ke ekt s ke e sttt Rt R ek e ettt ettt ettt are e 10 years

22. Investment property

An investment property is a property which is held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment property is
stated at fair value. The Bank uses independent professionally quailified valuers who determine the fair value of investment property by applying
recognised valuation techniques. In cases where prices of recent market transactions of comparable properties are available, fair value is
determined by reference to these transactions. The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

23. Property and equipment

Q
~

Recognition and measurement
[tems of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

b) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the
Income Statement as an expense as incurred.

<) Depreciation
The depreciable amount of property and equipment is determined after deducting its residual value. Depreciation is charged to the Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:

REAI ESTATE. ... et h ettt a e e ettt et e e e 25-50 years
MaAChINETY AN EGUIPIMENT. ...ttt ettt ettt o2 e e ettt et e et e et e et e es e et e st e bt e ke et e en e e e et e eteeeeaneen 3-5 years
OPEIATING IBASE. ..ttt e ettt 3-10 years

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually.

24. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the qualifying assets and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group is
brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable IFRS. Then, on initial classification as held for sale, non-current assets and disposal groups are
recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Investment property held for sale is carried at fair value. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the Income Statement, even when there is a revaluation. The same applies to gains
and losses on subsequent remeasurement.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are mainly mortgages foreclosed and disposal entities. Disposal entities are consolidated.
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25.

26.

27.

28.

Deposits

Deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except where the Bank chooses to carry the liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Borrowings

Some of the borrowings of the Bank are classified as other financial liabilities and are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption amount
being recognised in the Income Statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. Accrued interest is included in the
carrying amount of the borrowings.

Subordinated loans

Subordinated loans are classified as other financial liabilities and consist of liabilities in the form of subordinated capital which, in case of the
Bank's voluntary or compulsory winding-up, will not be repaid until after the claims of ordinary creditors have been met. In the calculation of the
capital ratio, the bonds are included within Tier | and Tier Il, as shown in note 83. On the one hand, there are subordinated loans with no
maturity date that the Bank may not retire until 2011 and 2014 and then only with the permission of the Financial Supervisory Authority. These
liabilities qualify as Tier | capital in the calculation of the equity ratio. On the other hand, there are subordinated loans with various dates of
maturity over the next 25 years.

Subordinated loans are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, subordinated loans are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the Income Statement over the period of the
borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

) Trading liabilities
Trading liabilities primarily consist of derivatives with negative fair values and delivery obligations for short sales of securities. Hedging derivatives
such as those used for internal risk control but not qualifying for hedge accounting under IAS 39 are also disclosed under this item.

Trading liabilities are measured at fair value. Gains and losses realised on disposal or redemption and unrealised gains and losses from changes in
the fair value of trading liabilities are reported as Net gain on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. Interest expenses on trading
liabilities are included in Interest expenses.

=

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

The Bank classifies certain financial liabilities upon their initial recognition as financial liabilities at fair value with fair value changes recognised in

profit or loss if doing so results in more relevant information because:

i) It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different base or

ii) Financial assets and/or financial liabilities are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Bank's
risk management or investment strategy, and information about it is provided internally on that basis to the Bank's key management
personnel.

If the Bank becomes a party to instruments containing embedded derivatives which meet specific conditions, the Bank classifies the instruments

into this category in order to avoid the complexity of applying the rules on separation and accounting for the embedded derivatives.

The liabilities classified according to the above-mentioned conditions consist of:

- Mortgage bonds issued by the Bank are financial liabilities that are created by the Bank by issuing bonds that correspond to the terms of the
underlying mortgage loans.

- Transaction costs related to financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss are included in the Income Statement as interest
expense.

- Mortgage funding is recognised when cash is advanced to the Bank from issuing bonds. They are initially recorded at fair value, which is the
cash received and are subsequently measured at fair value. Fair value of issued mortgage bonds is the current market price. llliquid mortgage
bonds will be carried at a value calculated by discounting cash flows.

- Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes in their fair value are recognised in
the Income Statement as Net financial income. Interest expenses that arises from these liabilities is recognised on an accrual basis in Interest
expense.
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30.

31.

32.

a)

b)

33.

QO
~

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific
to the liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has
commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Bank from a contract are lower than the
unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Bank recognises any
impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Other assets and other liabilities

Other assets and other liabilities are stated at cost.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, which is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee
liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a payment under
the guarantee has become probable). Financial guarantees are included within Other liabilities .

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement when they are due.

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest.

The fair value of share appreciation rights is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include share price on measurement
date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to
publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder
behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions
attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

Share Capital

Treasury shares
Acquired own shares and other equity instruments (treasury shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in Income Statement
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. Consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity.

Incremental transaction costs of treasury share transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity (net of any related income tax benefit).

When classifying a financial instrument (or component of it) in the Consolidated Financial Statements, all terms and conditions agreed between
members of the Bank and the holders of the instrument are considered. To the extent there is an obligation that would give rise to a financial
liability, the instrument is classified as financial liability, rather than an equity instrument.

b) Dividend on shares

Dividends on shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Bank's shareholders.
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34.

35.

36.

Earnings per share

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares.

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net earnings attributable to equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Bank calculates dilutive potential ordinary shares by determining the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

New Standards and Interpretations effective in 2007

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments. Disclosures and the Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures became
mandatory for the Bank’s 2007 financial statements. The adoption of IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 impacted the type and amount of
disclosures made in these financial statements, but had no impact on the reported profits or financial position of the Bank. In accordance with the
transitional requirements of the standards, the Bank has provided full comparative information.

IFRIC 7 — 10 became mandatory for the Bank’s 2007 financial statements but their adoption had no impact on the Bank’'s 2007 Financial
Statements.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2007, and have
not been applied in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements:

IFRS 8 Operating Segments introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting. IFRS 8, which becomes mandatory for the Bank's
2009 financial statements, will require the disclosure of segment information based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by the Bank’s Chief
Operating Decision Maker in order to assess each segment’s performance and to allocate resources to them. Currently the Bank presents segment
information in respect of its business and geographical segments (see note 41-43). The Bank has not yet determined the potential effect of IFRS 8
on the consolidated financial statements.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised in 2007) replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised in 2003) as amended in
2005. IAS 1 (Revised 2007) sets the overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines for their structure and minimum
requirements for their content. The main change in revised IAS 1 is a requirement to present all non-owner changes in equity (changes in equity
not resulting from transactions with owners in their capacity as owners) in one or two statements: either in a single statement of comprehensive
income, or in an income statement plus in a statement of comprehensive income. Unlike under current IAS 1, it is not permitted to present
components of comprehensive income in the statement of changes in equity. IAS 1 (revised in 2007), which becomes mandatory for the Bank's
2009 financial statements if endorsed by the EU, is expected to impact the presentation of the Bank’s income statement and statement of
changes in equity.

Revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs removes the option to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. If endorsed by the EU, the revised
IAS 23 will become mandatory for the Bank’s 2009 financial statements and will have no effect on the Bank’s accounting policies.

The amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (January 2008) clarify the definition of vesting
conditions and the accounting treatment of cancellations. If endorsed by the EU, the amendments become mandatory for the Bank’'s 2009
financial statements, with retrospective application required. The amendments are not expected to have any effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Bank.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised in 2008) and amended IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements introduce changes to the
accounting for business combinations and for non-controlling (minority) interest. The most significant changes from IFRS 3 (2004) and IAS 27
(2003) are the following:

- IFRS 3 (2008) applies also to business combinations involving only mutual entities and to business combinations achieved by contract alone;

- The definition of a business combination has been revised to focus on control;

- The definition of a business has been amended;

- Transaction costs incurred by the acquirer in connection with the business combination do not form part of the business combination transaction;
- Acquisitions of additional non-controlling equity interests after the business combination are accounted for as equity transactions;

- Disposals of equity interests while retaining control are accounted for as equity transactions;

- New disclosures are required.
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37.

38.

=

=

IFRS 3 (revised in 2008) and amended IAS 27 will become mandatory for the Bank’s 2010 Financial Statements, if endorsed by the EU. The
carrying amounts of any assets and liabilities that arose under business combinations prior to the application of IFRS 3 (revised in 2008) are not
adjusted while most of the amendments to IAS 27 must be applied retrospectively. The Bank has not yet determined the potential effect of IFRS 3
(revised in 2008) and amended IAS 27 on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions requires a share-based payment arrangement in which an entity receives goods or
services as consideration for its own equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, regardless of
how the equity instruments are obtained. IFRIC 11 will become mandatory for the Bank’s 2008 financial statements, with retrospective application
required. IFRIC 11 is not expected to have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements provides guidance on certain recognition and measurement issues that arise in accounting for public-
to-private service concession arrangements. IFRIC 12, which becomes mandatory for the Bank's 2008 financial statements if endorsed by the EU,
will have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes addresses the accounting by entities that operate, or otherwise participate in, customer loyalty
programmes for their customers. It relates to customer loyalty programmes under which the customer can redeem credits for awards such as free
or discounted goods or services. IFRIC 13, which becomes mandatory for the Bank’s 2009 financial statements if endorsed by the EU, is not
expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 14 1AS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction clarifies when refunds or reductions
in future contributions in relation to defined benefit assets should be regarded as available and provides guidance on the impact of minimum
funding requirements (MFR) on such assets. It also addresses when a MFR might give rise to a liability. IFRIC 14 will become mandatory for the
Bank’s 2008 financial statements if endorsed by the EU, with retrospective application required. The Bank has not yet determined the potential
effect of the interpretation on the consolidated financial statements.

Segment reporting

Business segment is a distinguishable component of the Bank that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment) which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Bank’s primary format for segment reporting is based on
business segments.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

These disclosures supplement the risk management disclosure, provided elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment losses on loans

The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be
recorded in the Income Statement, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a
group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

ii) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. Where valuation
techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel
independent of the area that created them. All models are certified before they are used, and models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect
actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only observable data, however areas such as credit risk (both own
and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect
reported fair value of financial instruments.

iii) The Bank is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Estimates are required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
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There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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39.

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Bank's accounting policies

i) Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Bank has determined that it expects the hedge to be highly effective
over the life of the hedging instrument.

ii) Securitisations

In applying its policies on securitised financial assets, the Bank has considered both the degree of transfer of risk and rewards on assets
transferred to another entity and the degree of control exercised by the Bank over the other entity:

- When the Bank, in substance, controls the entity to which financial assets have been transferred, the entity is included in these consolidated
financial statements and the transferred assets are recognised in the Bank's Balance Sheet.

- When the Bank has transferred financial assets to another entity, but has not transferred substantially all of the risk and rewards relating to
the transferred assets, the assets are recognised in the Bank's Balance Sheet.

- When the Bank has transferred substantially all the risk and rewards relating to the transferred assets to an entity that it does not control, the
assets have been derecognised from the Bank's Balance Sheet.

Details of the Bank's securitisation activities are given in note 71.

Changes within the Bank

On 4 April the Bank sold all shares in the wholly owned subsidiary Eik fasteignafélag hf. The total sale price was ISK 6.109 million and the Bank
generated a profit before taxes of ISK 4,262 million on this transaction, which was booked in the second quarter of 2007. Total assets of Eik
fasteignafélag hf. at the end of March 2007 amounted to ISK 37.645 million, of which investment properties totalled ISK 6.807 million.

In December the Bank sold its operation in the Faroe Islands to Eik Banki P/F.
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40.

Segment information is presented in respect of the Bank's business and geographical segments. The primary format, business segments, is
based on the Bank’s management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm's length basis. Business segments pay and receive interest to and from Treasury on an arm's
length basis to reflect the allocation of capital and funding cost.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property and equipment and intangible assets other than
goodwill.

Business segments

The Bank comprises the following main business segments:

Capital Markets is divided into two parts: Capital Markets and Proprietary Trading. Capital Markets handles securities, derivatives and foreign
exchange trading and brokerage for the Bank's clients. Proprietary Trading handles transactions for the Bank's own account in all major markets,
as well as undertaking the Bank's market making for stocks and bonds.

Investment Banking provides various services to corporate clients through its four main products areas: M&A advisory, Capital Markets Advisory ,
Acquisition and Leverage Finance and Principle Investment.

Treasury is responsible for inter-bank trading and the Bank’s funding.

Banking provides general banking services to retail customers in Iceland and services such as advice and assistance in financing to medium-sized
and large companies, particularly in Iceland, Sweden, the United Kingdom (UK) and Denmark.

Asset Management and Private Banking manage financial assets for institutional, corporate and private clients. Asset Management is organised
into three units: Alternative and Mutual Fund Management, Asset Management for Institutional Investors and Services for Institutional Investors.
Private Banking consists of two units: Customer Relations and Portfolio Management.

Cost Centres are: Overhead, Back Office, Risk Management, Finance, Legal Department, Information Technology, Human Resources, Sales and
Marketing.

Geographical segments

The Bank operates in four main geographical regions, being: Iceland, Scandinavia, the United Kingdom and Luxembourg.
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Summary of the Bank's business segments:

2007

Net interest income

Net fee and commission income

Net financial income

Other inComMe .......ooooiiiiiiiiiee
Operating iNCOMe .......cccveeervevecierneanns
Operating eXpense .........ccccccveeeeeennn.
Impairment ..o
Total eXPense .......ccocvievieveereeverseeneenns
Earnings before cost allocation
Allocated cost .....cocooeieinnn.
Earnings before income tax

Net segment revenue from external customers
Net segment revenue from other segments
Operating iNCOMe ......ccccveeeevevecierneanns

Depreciation and amortisation

Total assets ......coevveeeeieeceeeerreeee e,

Total liabilities ..........cccooiriiriiiiie
Allocated equity ......cccoovvevieiiiiiene,
Total liabilities and equity

Capital expenditure

2006

Net interest income

Net fee and commission income

Net financial income

Other inCoMe .....oovveieiiieeceee
Operating iNCOMe ......ccccvecervevecerneanns
Operating expense .........ccccceveeeeneen.
Impairment ...

Total expense ..

Earnings before cost allocation
Allocated COSt ...oviiiiiiiii
Earnings before income tax

Net segment revenue from external customers
Net segment revenue from other segments
Operating iNCOME ......ccccuvicervurerereiener e

Depreciation and amortisation

Total assets ......cocevveeeeieeieeecrreeee e,

Total liabilities .........ccccoooveiiiiii

Allocated equity

Total liabilities and equity

Capital expenditure
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Asset
Managem. Elimination
Capital Investment and Private and Cost

Markets Banking Treasury Banking Banking Centres Total
2,436 (3,027) 22,759 60,664 1,183 (3,902) 80,113
20,957 13,715 (707) 6,668 13,801 587 55,021
9,069 14,724 (17,793) 393 310 7,730 14,433
225 223 91 6,539 164 9,009 16,251
32,687 25,635 4,350 74,264 15,458 13,424 165,818
(11,562) (5,573) (3,988) (19,149) (7,947) (30,512) (78,731)
1 (24) 33 (6,162) - (28) (6,180)
(11,561) (5,597) (3,955) (25,311) (7,947) (30,540) (84,911)
21,126 20,038 395 48,953 7,511 (17,116) 80,907
(4,072) (565) (2,244) (8,828) (4,011) 19,720 -
17,054 19,472 (1,848) 40,125 3,501 2,604 80,907
48,519 27,293 (117,868) 200,807 7,950 (883) 165,818
(15,832) (1,658) 122,218  (126,543) 7,508 14,308 0
32,687 25,635 4,350 74,264 15,458 13,425 165,818
86 27 19 4,052 79 2,287 6,550
289,634 177,278 2,580,162 3,209,018 49,197 (957,944) 5,347,345
253,004 135,857 2,517,943 3,006,550 38,451 (960,891) 4,990,914
36,630 41,421 62,219 202,468 10,746 2,947 356,431
289,634 177,278 2,580,162 3,209,018 49,197 (957,944) 5,347,345
192 23 140 3,163 95 11,493 15,106
(408) (3,348) 10,386 45,903 817 (988) 52,362
9,881 9,577 443 5,744 11,230 409 37,284
7,913 42,984 8,411 750 531 (432) 60,157

0 43 25 6,631 962 9,752 17,413
17,386 49,256 19,266 59,028 13,540 8,741 167,216
(6,394) (3,636) (2,889) (14,969) (7,380) (24,738) (60,006)
(123) 1 (5) (4,851) (1,138) amn (6,127)
(6,517) (3,635) (2,894) (19,820) (8,518) (24,749) (66,133)
10,869 45,621 16,372 39,208 5,022 (16,008) 101,083
(3,247) (888) (1,973) (8,744) (3,427) 18,279 -
7,622 44,733 14,399 30,464 1,595 2,271 101,083
24,288 53,425 (55,756) 135,108 9,516 637 167,216
(6,902) (4,169) 75,022 (76,080) 4,025 8,104 -
17,386 49,256 19,266 59,028 13,541 8,741 167,216
10 7 19 3,529 34 2,376 5,976
328,176 108,946 1,536,197 2,597,032 12,386 (527,341) 4,055,396
297,380 47,998 1,487,116 2,421,953 4171 (538,114) 3,720,504
30,796 60,948 49,081 175,079 8,215 10,773 334,892
328,176 108,946 1,536,197 2,597,032 12,386 (527,341) 4,055,396
259 38 285 6,957 705 7,383 15,627
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Geographical analysis

42.

43.

Operating income specified by location of its markets and customers.

The geographical analysis of operating income is provided in order to comply with IFRS and does not reflect the way the Bank is managed.

2007 Scandi- Luxem-

Iceland navia UK bourg Other Total
Net iNterest INCOME .....vvveeeeee e 26,747 21,092 23,759 6,706 1,809 80,113
Net fee and commissioN INCOME ..........coveeiviiiiiiiiieeiee e 22,241 9,319 16,270 6,115 1,076 55,021
Net financial INCOME .......ooie i 446 6,272 7,411 369 (65) 14,433
Other iNCOME ....vviiiiecce e 5,315 6,117 4,517 284 18 16,251
Operating iNCOME ......covuveeiererererieseeseeseeeeeeee s e res e seeneeens 54,749 42,800 51,957 13,474 2,837 165,818
2006
Net iNterest INCOME .....vveeeeee e 16,592 17,311 12,099 4,882 1,478 52,362
Net fee and commissioN INCOME ..........coveeiviiiiieiiieeee e 14,724 5,935 10,543 4,355 1,727 37,284
Net financial INCOME .......coooii e 34,995 17,181 5,975 1,842 164 60,157
Other iNCOME .....viiiiiieec e 12,233 993 4,168 - 19 17,413
Operating iNCOME ......cocuveeverereeerie e e seeseeseeeres e e e seeneeens 78,544 41,420 32,785 11,079 3,388 167,216

Financial gains relating to the sale of Exista hf. in 2006, amounting to ISK 26,084 million, is included in Net financial income in Iceland. Financial
gains relating to the sale of VIS hf. in 2006, amounting to ISK 7,421 million, is included in Other income in Iceland.

Assets specified by location of its markets and customers.

2007 Scandi- Luxem-

Iceland navia UK bourg Other Total
Cash and balances with central banks ................cccccoooiiii, 1,034 14,632 79,719 2,156 418 97,959
Loans to credit inStITUtIONS .........ooooiiiiiee e 198,079 118,112 82,715 71,881 117,655 588,441
LOANS 10 CUSTOMENS ..o 884,885 1,160,486 662,132 382,342 214,563 3,304,408
Financial assets measured at fair value 506,135 262,092 10,662 63,886 2,680 845,455
OthEr @SSETS ..o 118,164 286,088 81,791 22,080 2,959 511,082
TOMAl @SSELS ..e.eeieiiee ettt e 1,708,297 1,841,410 917,019 542,345 338,274 5,347,345
2006
Cash and balances with central banks ..............ccccoovvviii, 964 40,616 65,007 42 332 106,961
Loans to credit institutions ............cceovviiiiiiiicceeeeee e 88,421 126,909 139,308 50,414 80,282 485,334
LOANS O CUSTOMENS ... 573,238 1,085,119 506,626 271,469 102,157 2,538,609
Financial assets measured at fair value 332,744 261,918 30,621 36,426 3,420 665,129
OthEr @SSETS ... 76,149 111,686 66,316 4,899 313 259,363
B o] LT ) SR 1,071,516 1,626,248 807,878 363,250 186,504 4,055,396
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Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement

Net interest income

44,

Interest income and expense is specified as follows:

2007

Cash and balances with central Danks ............cocooiiiiii e
Loans, receivables and EPOSITS .. ....c..iiiiiiii s
BOITOWINGS ...ttt ettt ettt et e et ettt e e
SUDOFAINATEA T0NS ...ttt ettt
SEOUITHIES ettt sttt et e et e et et e et e et e e et

Interest income and expenses from assets and liabilities at fair value

Interest income and expenses from assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
INtErest INCOME @NA EXPENSE ......cvirvireieeirieeeesie ettt ettt ettt ke se e seeseese e e e s

2006

Cash and balances With Central DANKS ...........coiiiiiiiiii s
Loans, receivables and dePOSITS ..........oiiiiiiii e
BOTTOWINGS ..ottt ettt ettt
SUDOTAINATEA TOBNS ...ttt ettt

Interest income and expenses from assets and liabilities at fair value

Interest income and expenses from assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
INtErest INCOME @NA EXPENSE ..........ruiuiiui et eee ettt e sttt ec et et eee et ee e aeae

Net fee and commission income

45,

Fee and commission income and expense is specified as follows:

Fee and commission income

Securities trading ...

DIBIIVATIVES ..o

LEINING ettt R ettt ettt
ASSEE MANAGEMENT TEES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e
Other fee and COMMISSION INCOME ........couiiiiei ettt

Fee and COMMISSION INCOIMIE ..........ciiiiieiie i cie et e ettt eteecete e et ee st e e teeeeaeeeabeessseesaeesaeeasaeeeseeenbensnssansseesaneansenanns

Fee and commission expense

PUICRESEA QUATANTEES ...ttt ettt ettt h et s ettt ettt et te e
SECUIIES TrATING .ttt ettt et et e e s e et e et e et e et et e
Other fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE .....c..iiviiiieieeit ettt ettt ettt et r ettt ettt ene e s

Fee and COMMISSION EXPENSE .....eeverreriueereeesiereeestesrersueeseesseesesessessenssessensasesssssessssssensensansssssanesssansessenssensansnessesns

Interest Interest Net interest
income expense income
4,743 - 4,743
242,097 (90,375) 151,722
- (114,642) (114,642)
- (15,130) (15,130)
46,661 (2,153) 44,508
6,197 - 6,197
4,633 (1,918) 2,715
304,331 (224,218) 80,113
46,588 (2,153) 44,435
257,743 (222,065) 35,678
304,331 (224,218) 80,113
911 - 911
150,405 (43,470) 106,935
- (77,613) (77,613)
- (10,665) (10,665)

28,191 (2,372) 25,819
5,359 - 5,359
2,585 (969) 1,616
187,451 (135,089) 52,362
28,164 (2,371) 25,793
159,287 (132,718) 26,569
187,451 (135,089) 52,362
2007 2006

16,862 11,413

4,783 3,582

8,347 2,901

7,492 6,548

27,381 16,460

64,865 40,904
(477) (139)
(2,652) (2,052)
(6,715) (1,429)
(9,844) (3,620)

55,021 37,284

Net fee and COMMISSION INCOME .......ccveieeieiteieeeceeeeee et et eebe et eesaeeeeeereesseestessessaeaeesaeanseeasensenssansensbeannesaeensesasensens

Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007

31

Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. cont.

Included above is fee and commission income of ISK 60,082 million (2006: ISK 37,321 million) and fee and commission expense of ISK 5,552
million (2006: ISK 2,623 million), (other than fees included in determining the effective interest rate), relating to financial assets and liabilities not

carried at fair value.

Asset management fees is earned by the Bank on trust and fiduciary activities where the Bank holds or invests assets on behalf of the customers.

Net financial income

46.

Net financial income is specified as follows:

DIVIAENT TNCOME ...ttt ettt s ettt et ettt s e oottt e et e et e et ene s

Net (loss) gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair Value ................ccoooviiiiii e
Net fOreign EXCNANGE GAIN ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et
Net gain on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or 10ss ............cccoooviiiiiiiiiiccceee
NEt fINANCIAI INCOME ........eieeiee ettt et re e steseeseeseesteseeteeesteseassansansansansanesaesnesnesnesnennnrens

Dividend income

47.

Dividend income is specified as follows:

Dividend INCOME ON TrAING @SSETS ......iiuiiiiiiiii ittt ettt ettt ettt et e et et ettt e e s
Dividend income on assets at fair value through profit Or l0SS .............ccoiiiiiiiiie e

(D171 1<) oV I o Ul )3 1Y

Net (loss) gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

48.

49.

50.

Net (loss) gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are specified as follows:

Net (loss) gain on trading portfolio ..........ccoocvvviviiiiiiiiiiieee
Net gain on assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

Fair value adjustments 0N Nedge ACCOUNTING ......iiiiiiii ittt

Net (loss) gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair ValUe ............ccccovereieie e s

Net (loss) gain on trading portfolio are specified as follows:

Net (loss) gain on equity instruments and related derivatives ..o
Net (Ioss) gain on foreign eXChange trading ........c.ooiiiiii i
Net loss on interest rate instruments and related derivativVeS ..o

Net (10SS) gain ON OTEr EIIVATIVES .........iiiiii ittt

Net (loss) gain on trading POTFOlO ..o e e

Net gain on assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are specified as follows:

Net loss on interest rate instruments designated at fair Value ...........ccoooiiiiiiiiii e
Net gain on equity instruments designated at fair VAU ............c.cocoiiiiiiiiii e

Net gain on assets designated at fair value through profit and l0Ss ............c..coiiiiiiiiiiii e

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss

51.

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are specified as follows:

Net realised gain 0N 10aNs aNd fINANCE TEASES ........oiuiiiiiiie ittt
Net realised gain on available-for-sale @SSETS ............ciiiiiii i
Other NEE TEAIISEA GAIN ....iiieii ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt

Net gain on financial assets and liabilities NOt at fair VAlUE ..........cccececiecieriiieccec et

2007 2006
5,658 5,074
(1,426) 52,023
10,151 2,918
50 142
14,433 60,157
5,341 3,757
317 1,317
5,658 5,074
(18,380) 12,997
16,512 38,668
442 358
(1,426) 52,023
(3,435) 11,226
(363) 463
(305) (3,643)
(14,277) 4,951
(18,380) 12,997
(6,814) (2,623)
23,326 41,291
16,512 38,668
- 103
50 32
- 7
50 142
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Other operating income

52. Other operating income is specified as follows: 2007 2006
Gain on disposals of assets other than held fOr Sale ............ocooiiiiiii e 6,012 8,784
INCOME TrOM OPEIAING IEASES ... .evieeieee ettt 4,748 4,128
Fair value adjustments on investment property (196) 513
Realised gain ONn iNVESTMENT PrOPEITY .. ..oiuei ittt - 216
(040 T=T T Tolo Ty ol OO SUTPTUTTTPTIO 2,228 2,578
(014 T o 0T = 11 Vo T Yoo o TS 12,792 16,219

Personnel

53. The Bank's total number of employees is as follows:

Average number of full time equivalent positions during the year .... 3,109 2,553
Full time equivalent positions at the end Of the YEAr .............cooiiiiii e 3,334 2,719
54. Salaries and related expenses are specified as follows:
SIS e E e E e E e h e E LR R R E e f e E ekttt ettt 21,902 16,388
210 AT o I= 1Y 0 110 LTS PRSP PRSPPI 16,327 11,606
SAIAIY TIATEA EXPENSES ....ovei ettt ettt ettt 8,418 5,576
Salaries and related EXPENSE .........civiirierieriee ettt e e e et e et et ea e e e e e e e ee et e et e e e e e e nes 46,647 33,570

A subsidiary of the Bank, Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander, has a defined benefit pension scheme. All accrued cost in respect of the plan has
been entered into the Financial Statements. Based on actuarial calculation the total liability is ISK 1,242 million at year end 2007.

55. Salaries to the executives of the Bank, their stock options and shares owned at year-end are specified as follows:

CEOQ:

Hreidar MAr Sigurdsson ...........cccooviioiiiiiiiie e

Directors:

Sigurdur Einarsson, Chairman .............cccccoviiiiiiiiii
ANtONIOS P. YErolemou ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeee e
Asgeir ThoroddSen .............ocooooiioiieeeeeeeee .
Bjarnfredur OlafSson ...
Brynja HalldorsdOttir .........ooooiiiiiiii

Gunnar Pall Palsson ...
Hjorleifur Thor Jakobsson ..
Niels de Coninck-Smith .....

TOMMY PEISSON ..ooiiiiiiiiiiiiii e

Managing director of a division and CEO of subsidiaries which

accounts for 25% or more of the Bank's equity and
performance:

Ingolfur Helgason CEQ inlceland ..........c.coovvvveeieiicie,
Lars Johansen CEO in Denmark ........cccocovvevveieieiiiineene
Bjarki Diego CCO ..ottt
Five Group Managing Directors ..........cccccevviiviiiiiiiice.
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Salaries

70.5

70.5

3.6
6.2
7.5
6.2
6.2
6.2
59
6.2

30.0
52.9
16.6
140.0

Stock

Pension fund options

Benefits Bonuses payment shares
4.4 35.0 28.3 3.2
37.3 35.0 26.7 3.2
10.1 40.0 0.4
1.6 35.8 -

1.8 36.0 0.4

9.6 127.4 7.1 1.5

Shares at
year-end

7.2

8.2
9.5

3.7

1.7
53
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55. cont.

The remuneration of the Chairman of the Board and the other directors of the Board is decided by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders.
In addition Board members receive remuneration for work in committees of the Board, such as audit, compensation and credit committees.

Remuneration to the Chairman of the Board, CEO and other members of “senior management” consist of base salary, variable salary/bonus,
other benefits, extra pension contributions and stock-based compensation. The other members of senior management comprise the five persons
who together with the CEO make up senior management. For the Chairman of the Board and CEO, the bonus is maximized at 100% of base
salary. For the other members of senior management bonus is generally maximized at 100% of the base salary. Bonus to the Chairman of the
Board, CEO and other senior management is based on the banks 15% minimum return on equity. Pension contributions and remuneration in the
form of stock-based compensation and other benefits to the CEO and other members of senior management are part of the total remuneration
package.

Remuneration to the CEO and the Chairman of the Board for the financial year 2007 was decided by the Board based on the recommendation
from the compensation committee. Remuneration to other members of Group management was decided by the CEO.

Pension fund payments are extra pension contributions to the senior management and the Chairman of the Board. The Bank pays as well
pension contributions to Board members and senior management based on Icelandic law. There are no pension liabilities related to board
members or senior management.

Bjarnfredur Olafsson, a board member of the Bank, is a partner in the law firm Logos. The firm has provided the Bank legal services. Total fee
paid to the firm was ISK 17 million for the year 2007 (2006 ISK: 32 million).

The CEO and the Chairman of the Board exercised in 2007 stock options that were granted 2003. The difference in exercise price and market
price were ISK 599 million for each of them.

Should the Chairman of the Board resign he shall receive salary payments for 12 months onwards, but otherwise his salary payments shall
continue for 48 months from the date of the termination of employment. The CEQ's term of notice is 12 months, but should his employment
terminate due to other reasons his salary payments shall continue for 48 months.

Additional information on stock options can be found in note 116.

Auditor's fee

56. Auditor's fee is specified as follows: 2007 2006
Audit of the Financial Statements and other related audit SEIVICE ........c.ooviiiiiiiiiiiii e 389 295
Review of Interim FINANCial STAtEMENTS ..........ooiiiiii ettt 32 36
OFNEI SEIVICE ..ttt a ettt et e et e et ettt e 74 121
Y Lo o) T (- OSSO 495 452
Fee to others than the Parent Company's auditors, included in the above total ...........cccocoviiiiiiii 398 366

Impairment

57. Impairment is specified as follows:
00T 0T T=T o) T (o - T LSS RSS P 6,098 4,857
IMPAIMMENT ON GOOTWIIl ...ttt ettt ettt ettt 75 451
IMPairMeNnt ON INTANGIDIE @SSETS .......iii ettt ettt 7 819
IMPAIMMENT ON ONEI @SSES ... e ettt et eeeeee e ee e et eaces e eaceaeeaceaesaesaeeaesaesaemsamsamsensensaneeeemeaneanean 82 1,270
IMIP@IMMIENT ON @SSETS ... et eeee et cr et et eae et et et e st et e et e ee e et e s e e e es et st e ee e et e ee e emseeseesme e eesaeeeneerenneean 6,180 6,127
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Income tax expense

58. Income tax recognised in the Income Statement are specified as follows:
Current tax expense 2007 2006
QU] oY= T SRR PRSP 7,872 10,154
Deferred tax expense
Changes in temporary differences 1,844 4,482
TOtal INCOME TAX EXPENSE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e et e et e e et e e e e en e e bt e e e e et e e st e et e e ente e e e 9,716 14,636
Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 2007 2006
Earnings before iNCOME taX ......oiiiiiiiii e 80,907 101,083
Income tax using the domestic CoOrporation tax rate ..........cccoovvoveiiiiiiiiiiie e 18.0% 14,447 18.0% 18,195
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiCtions .............cccoviiiiiiiiee e 3.5% 2775 ( 03%) (290)
NON-AEdUCEIDIE BXPENSE ...oiiiiiieii e 1.6% ) (1,297) 1.4% 1,394
TAX EXEIMPT FEVEINUES ...ttt ettt et e ettt e et e e ettt e e et e e e e et e e e ansb e e e anneeeeaaneeneans 5.1%) (4,091) ( 2.8%) (2,786)
Tax incentives not recognised in the Income Statement ... 0.0% 0 0.2% 171
OFhEr CRANGES ... e 2.6%) (2,118) ( 2.0%) (2,048)
L (e \ L =) - | (= S 12.0% 9,716 14.5% 14,636
Earnings per share
59. Earnings per share are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Net earnings attributable to the shareholders of Kaupthing Bank hf. ..o 70,020 85,302
Weighted average share capital:
Weighted average of outstanding shares for the YEar ..o 735.7 671.0
EFfECS OF STOCK OPTIONS ...o.vviii ettt 14.9 20.3
Weighted average of total shares for the year, diluted .............c.ooiiiiiiiii e 750.6 691.3
BaSIC @AMNINGS PEI SNAIE ...ttt ettt 95.2 1271
Diluted @arNINGS PEI SNAIE ... ittt ettt ettt ettt 93.3 123.4
Number of outstanding shares at the end of the year, Million .............ocoiiiiiii i 736.5 732.1
Number of total shares at the end of the year, million, diluted ...............cooiiiiiiiiiee e 751.5 752.4
Average number of own shares, MIllION ...........ocoiiiii e 8.8 8.4
Number of own shares at the end of the year, MIllIoN ... 3.9 8.4
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Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

Cash and balances with central banks

60.

61.

62.

63.

Cash and balances with central banks are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Cash and Cash DAIANCES ... 50,269 10,537
CASN EUUIVAIBNT ..ttt ettt ettt h et a ettt 47,690 96,424
Cash and balances With CeNtral DANKS .............ccoiiiiioii ettt ee s eae e ent e s e e aree s 97,959 106,961
Loans to credit institutions
Loans to credit institutions specified by types of loans:
MONEY MATKET TOBNS ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt s e sttt ettt e st et ene e ens 228,348 242,284
BaANK ACCOUNTS .. 197,240 95,828
OVEIATATES .o 3,855 7,902
= LI =] o Lo USSR 18,869 50,753
(@14 a1 N (o T=T o USROS PP TR 140,129 88,567
LOANS tO Credit INSTIEULIONS ....ceicuiieiiiceiieee et ie sttt ee e ee et et ee st e e e ae e s ae e et ee e estesaaeesassaesseseaeeeateesssessanesnnsansnnss 588,441 485,334
Loans to customers
Loans to customers specified by types of loans:
OVEIATATES .o 85,624 113,354
FINANCE JBASES ... e 73,597 93,006
Reverse repos and related agrEEMENTS ..........oiuiiiii ittt ettt 41,971 -
SUDOIAINGEA [OBNS ... .o 38,328 7,369
(@14 g T= (o= o LR RSO S U TR PSRRI 3,084,291 2,341,462
PrOVISION ON TOBNS .. ..o e (19,403) (16,582)
(Mo T- L (o X e ULy (o] =T £ SRS 3,304,408 2,538,609
Loans to customers specified by sectors:
1T LAY o U= SRR 17.1% 16.6%
HOIAING COMPANIES ...ttt ettt s ettt ettt ettt ettt et et ens 14.7% 13.5%
L aTe U3 1 SRS SSTBSPR 17.1% 20.3%
REAI ESTATE ... 20.7% 15.6%
SBIVICE e 18.3% 19.9%
TTAAE ..ot 10.1% 12.5%
L1 o Lo = [ 0 OSSPSR 2.0% 1.6%
[ =T a1 (o R (o 1 1=T TSRS 100.0% 100.0%
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64. Changes in the provision for losses are specified as follows:

2007 Finance Subodinated Other

Overdrafts leases loans loans Total
Balance at 1 JanUuary .......ooooiiiiii e 899 619 516 14,548 16,582
Provision for losses during the Year .............cccocoiiiiiiiiiiicce e 94 226 42 5,949 6,311
Exchange rate difference on translation ............ccccoceeviiiieiiiiiiicccee e 0 (51) (13) (640) (704)
Write-0ffs during the YEar .......ccoviiiiiiii e (269) (245) - (2,071) (2,585)
Payment of loans previously written off ...............cccooiiiiiiiii i - 3) - (210) (213)
Disposals due to sale of subsidiary ..........ccoocoviiiiiiiiiii i - - - 13 13
Balance at 31 DECEMDET ........c et 724 545 545 17,589 19,403
Collective 273 105 8 5,618 6,004
SPECITIC e 451 440 537 11,971 13,399

724 545 545 17,589 19,403
Gross amount of loans, individually determined to be impaired,
before deducting any individually assessed impairment allowance ................... 558 2,005 585 25,758 28,906
2006
Balance @t T JANUAIY ...oviiiiiiiiic e 1,008 310 413 11,222 12,953
Provision for losses during the year .............cccccoovvoiiiiiiiececeeeeeeee 168 397 (5) 4,395 4,955
Exchange rate difference on translation ..........cccocooeeiiiiiiiiiii - 174 109 1,875 2,158
Actual losses during the Year ..........ocoiiiiiiiii e 277) (262) - (2,847) (3,386)
Payment of loans previously written off ............cccoociiiiiiii i - - - (98) (98)
Balance at 31 DeCemMbEr ..........covoiiee e 899 619 516 14,548 16,582
COMBLEIVE .t 82 97 0 2,999 3,178
SPECITIC 1ttt 817 522 516 11,549 13,404
899 619 516 14,548 16,582

Gross amount of loans, individually determined to be impaired,
before deducting any individually assessed impairment allowance ................... 853 2,204 604 20,196 23,856

Included within interest income is ISK 780 million (2006: ISK 568 million) with respect of interest income accrued on impaired financial assets
and ISK 203 million (2006: ISK 148 million) with respect to the unwind of the impairment provision discount.
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65.

66.

67.

Impaired loans by geographical analysis: 2007 2006
Impaired Impaired Impaired Impaired
amount loans amount loans
3,323 4,792 5,081 6,474
3,287 8,921 3,477 5,127
6,265 13,952 3,997 10,763
28 482 17 49
496 759 832 1,443
13,399 28,906 13,404 23,856
Impaired loans by sector:
INAIVIAUAIS ...ttt 1,081 2,034 1,780 2,280
Holding companies ... 910 2,562 166 849
INGUSHTY .o 3,116 7,955 4,537 6,503
REAI ESTALE ...ttt 3,224 9,333 1,982 5,559
VL . 2,474 3,252 3,192 5,221
L e [ TR PRPUPUPSPPPURPRON 2,461 3,243 1,340 2,471
TrANSPOITATION ..ottt ettt 133 527 407 973
IMPAITMENT ON I0ANS ... veieiceeeei e e et e e see e se e eas e ensse s ensaneneesanennenns 13,399 28,906 13,404 23,856
Status of monitoring of loans to customers:
Neither past due nor specifically impaired
2007
Standard Special Substandard Specifically
Monitoring Monitoring Loans Total Past due impaired Total
OVErdrafts ....oooiiiiiiiicec 83,523 429 27 83,979 1,087 558 85,624
FINANCE 18ASES ..o 68,799 - - 68,799 2,793 2,005 73,597
Subordinated 10ans ..........cccooieiiiiiii 37,743 - - 37,743 - 585 38,328
Other 10aNS ......covoiviiiiiie 3,011,258 27,496 25,970 3,064,724 35,780 25,758 3,126,262
TOAl i 3,201,323 27,925 25,997 3,255,245 39,660 28,906 3,323,811
PIOVISION ON TONS ...ttt ettt ettt s e st et o2 e h et e et e e o5 e e st et e e et e et e e sttt et e ettt n et (19,403)
LOBNS 1O CUSTOMIEIS ....c.neiieiiiieieeiiee e et ee e et e e s e e e sae e e s s ea e e e s ee e e e e e e e easaeeaeasaneaesan s ee Sansee e 2 s me e e e ameeensanbeesaanmnes e smnseeseusnnaennen 3,304,408
2006 Neither past due nor specifically impaired
Standard Special Substandard Specifically
Monitoring Monitoring Loans Total Past due impaired Total
OVErdrafts .....cooiiiiciiecice 109,986 356 22 110,364 2,137 853 113,354
FINANCE 1€ASES ... 88,921 - - 88,921 1,881 2,204 93,006
Subordinated [0ans .........ccooeiiii 6,765 - - 6,765 - 604 7,369
Other loans 2,259,595 18,924 16,439 2,294,958 26,308 20,196 2,341,462
TOAl i 2,465,267 19,280 16,461 2,501,008 30,326 23,856 2,555,191
PrOVISIONS ON TOBNS ... ..o (16,582)
e 7= T (oI oL Sy 0 0 1= £ PSP 2,538,609
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68. Analysis of loans that are past due but not impaired:

Total
Finance Other loans to
2007 Overdrafts leases loans  customers
Past dUE UP 10 29 dAYS ...viiiiieieii oot 255 1,271 17,140 18,666
Past AU 30-59 AYS ....oiiiiiiiiie e 440 227 7,043 7,710
Past AU B0-89 AYS .. ..ot 166 402 3,451 4,019
Past duE 90-179 daYS ...oeeiiiiie et 140 501 4,181 4,822
Past dUE T80-365 TAYS ....veeieiieiiiiii ettt ettt 65 277 3,012 3,353
ADOVE 365 AYS ... 21 115 953 1,089
[N foTa BT ag o1 {=To (o= - ST 1,087 2,793 35,780 39,660
2006
Past dUE UP 10 29 TAYS ..oviiiieiieei ettt 137 821 14,139 15,097
Past AU 30-59 TAYS ..o.viiiiiiiieie ettt 989 155 7,268 8,412
Past AUE B0-89 TAYS ......viueiiriiiiieie ettt 815 351 1,010 2,176
Past AUE 90-179 AYS ....eeiuiiieiiieie ettt 109 402 1,706 2,217
Past dUE 1T80-365 TAYS ...eveiiiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt ettt 61 102 1,963 2,126
ADOVE 365 TAYS ..ot 26 51 221 298
NON-IMPAITEA [OBNS ....evveeeiereei et e e ere et ree e e e e sre e s ate e aeneesaeeneeensaneen 2,137 1,882 26,307 30,326

Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on

the basis of the level of security or collateral available and / or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.

Non-performing loans are classified as aggregated exposures for which the Bank has made specific provisions in part or in full. Non-performing
loans amounted at the end of the year to ISK 32,503 million (2006: ISK 25,506 million), 0.98% of total loans to customers (2006: 1.00%).
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Financial assets and liabilities

69.

Financial assets and liabilities are specified as follows:
2007

Derivatives Financial

Loans and Designated Available used for liabilities at

receivables Trading at fair value for sale hedging amort. cost Total
Loans and receivables
Cash and balances with central banks ................... 97,959 - - - - - 97,959
Loans to credit iNStitutions ...........cccoovvvieriiieiene. 588,441 - - - - - 588,441
LOaNs tO CUSTOMENS ......ovveeeiieccee e 3,304,408 - - - - - 3,304,409
Loans and receivables .........cccccecevrieeienienieniene, 3,990,808 - - - - - 3,990,808
Bonds and debt instruments
LISTEA oo - 18,859 317,004 - - - 335,863
Unlisted .............. . - 15,506 8,070 - - - 23,576
MOrtgage 10ans .........cccveiieiiiieiiiiee e - - 7,911 - - - 7,911
Bonds and debt instruments ..................c.c..c...... - 34,365 332,985 - - - 367,350
Shares and instruments with variable income
LISTEA .o - 51,980 15,256 - - - 67,236
Unlisted ....oooooviiiiiiiciee . - 4,142 82,745 165 - - 87,052
Bond funds with variable income ........................... - 5,172 1,337 - - - 6,509
Shares and instruments with variable income ....... - 61,294 99,338 165 - - 160,797
Derivatives
OTC derivatiVeS .......c.coeoviiiiiiiiieeee e - 110,052 - - - - 110,053
Other trading derivatives ............ccccoooiiiiiiiiii - 24,804 - - - - 24,805
DENVALIVES ......oeeeieieiiie et e - 134,856 - - - - 134,856
Derivatives used for hedging
Fair value hedge .......c.oocooviiiiiiiiic - - - - 16,617 - 16,617
Portfolio hedge of interest rate risk ........................ - - - - 5,886 - 5,886
Derivatives used for hedging .........c.ccocveevievieniene. - - - - 22,503 - 22,503
Securities used for hedging
Bonds and debt instruments ..........ccoocoviiiiiiiennnn - 68,051 - - - - 68,051
Shares and equity instruments ..., - 91,898 - - - - 91,898
Securities used for hedging .........c..ccoceveriecvenreniae - 159,949 - - - - 159,949
Other financial @ssets ..........ccooeveeoviieeioeieeeiieee 263,993 - - - - - 263,993
Financial @ssets ........ccccovivieeiveeeernresenenen e 4,254,801 390,464 432,323 165 22,503 - 5,100,256
Liabilities at amortised cost
Due to credit institutions and central banks ............ - - - - - 339,088 339,088
DEPOSIES ... - - - - - 1,381,457 1,381,457
BOITOWINGS oo - - - - - 2,615960 2,615,960
Subordinated 10aNS ..........oevviiiiiiii - - - - - 267,289 267,289
Liabilities at amortised €OSt ........ccovveerrrecieriennne - - - - - 4,603,794 4,603,794
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Short position in equity held for trading ................. - 2,305 - - - - 2,305
Derivatives held for trading ..........cc.cccooeviiiiiinnn. - 100,273 - - - - 100,273
Repos and related agreements held for trading ...... - 96,865 - - - - 96,865
Derivatives used for hedging ...........cccccccoevieiennn. - - - - 10,815 - 10,815
Mortgages funding - - 7,687 - - - 7,687
Financial liabilities measured at fair valu - 199,443 7,687 - 10,815 - 217,945
Other financial liabilities ..............c.ccoviiiiiiii - - - - - 72,212 72,212
Financial liabilities .........cc.cececvvevicernrecenieceeiee - 199,443 7,687 - 10,815 4,676,006 4,893,951
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69. cont.

2006 Derivatives Financial

Loans and Designated Available used for liabilities at

receivables Trading at fair value for sale hedging amort. cost Total
Loans and receivables
Cash and balances with central banks .................... 106,961 - - - - - 106,961
Loans to credit inStitutions .............ccoovvviieeiiiiii, 485,334 - - - - - 485,334
Loans to CUSTOMENS .....cvviiiiiiiiciiic e 2,538,609 - - - - - 2,538,609
Loans and receivables ............ccoceoeviieieiecienienns 3,130,904 - - - - - 3,130,904
Bond's and debt instruments
LISt e - 26,208 246,620 - - - 272,828
Unlisted .....oooiiee e - 3,559 31,369 - - - 34,928
Mortgage 10ans .......cooieiiiiiiiiiee e - - 10,508 - - - 10,508
Bonds and debt instruments .......c..cccccvreeecerrninee. - 29,767 288,497 - - - 318,264
Shares and instruments with variable income
LISTEd .o - 77,638 33,931 - - - 111,569
UNHSted ..o - 2,471 34,559 164 - - 37,194
Bond funds with variable income ........c..cccoocceiinn. - 8,835 1,422 - - - 10,257
Shares and instruments with variable income ....... - 88,944 69,912 164 - - 159,020
Derivatives
OTC derivatives ..........cooeviiiiiiiiiie e - 50,011 - - - - 50,011
FUTUIES o - 15 - - - - 15
Other trading derivatives ............ccccooeiiiiiiiiiii - 15,428 - - - - 15,428
Derivatives - 65,454 - - - - 65,454
Derivatives used for hedging
Fair value hedge .......cccooovviiiiiiiiieic - - - - 2,953 - 2,953
Portfolio hedge of interest rate risk ........................ - - - - 3,500 - 3,500
Derivatives used for hedging .........c.ccccvievereniene. - - - - 6,453 - 6,453
Securities used for hedging
Bonds and debt instruments ..........cccccoviiiiiiennn - 66,732 - - - - 66,732
Shares and equity instruments .. - 47,011 2,195 - - - 49,206
Securities used for hedging .........cc.ccoceveruevenreniae - 113,743 2,195 - - - 115,938
Other financial @ssets ..........ccooeveeiiiieeeoeieeeieee 99,044 - - - - - 99,044
Financial @ssets ...........ccccooveeeieeeecieeiecieieeeeiae 3,229,948 297,908 360,604 164 6,453 - 3,895,077

Liabilities at amortised cost

Due to credit institutions and central banks - - - - - 110,455 110,456
DEPOSIES ...t - - - - - 750,658 750,658
BOITOWINGS ... - - - - - 2,399,939 2,399,939
Subordinated 10ans .............ccocooeiiiiiiiee - - - - - 216,030 216,030
Liabilities at amortised cost ...........cc.ccceeieieenennn. - - - - - 3,477,081 3,477,081
Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Short position in equity held for trading ................ - 2,122 - - - - 2,122
Derivatives held for trading .............ccccooevivieenn. - 48,973 - - - - 48,973
Derivatives used for hedging .........c..cccoocevviiiinnne. - - - - 8,768 - 8,768
Mortgages funding .........cccoeviviiiiiiiii - - 11,401 - - - 11,401
Financial liabilities measured at fair value ............ - 51,095 11,401 - 8,768 - 71,264
Other financial liabilities .................ccccoooiiiiiie - - - - - 96,072 96,072
Financial liabilities ..........cccecoveieiinieeieeiee e - 51,095 11,401 - 8,768 3,573,153 3,644,418
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69. cont.

70.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

The Bank’s Consolidated Balance Sheet is affected by exchange differences between the Icelandic krona and all the non-lcelandic krona
functional currencies of subsidiaries. The Bank uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the forward foreign currency translation risk on
its net investment in foreign subsidiaries.

The fair value of the forward contracts used to hedge the Bank’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries is included in the amount shown in the
table above.

The ineffectiveness recognised in Net financial income during the year ended 31 December 2007 that arose from hedges in foreign operations
was nil (2006: nil).

Fair value heages

Kaupthing's fair value hedges principally consist of interest rate swaps that are used to protect against changes in the fair value of fixed-rate long-
term financial instruments due to movements in market interest rates. For qualifying fair value hedges, all changes in the fair value of the

derivative and in the fair value of the item in relation to the risk being hedged are recognised in the Income Statement. If the hedge relationship
is terminated, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item continues to be reported as part of the basis of the item and is amortised to income
as a yield adjustment over the remainder of the hedging period.

Other derivatives held for risk management

The Group uses other derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency, interest rate,
equity market and credit risks. The instruments used include interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps, forward contracts, futures,
options, credit swaps and equity swaps. The fair values of those derivatives are shown in the table above.

Bonds and debt instruments designated at fair value specified by issuer: 2007 2006
Financial institutions ... 293,845 270,879
GOVERIMIMENTS .o et e e e e 11,375 1,032
[ Qo] olo] = (=2 U USRS UT PP POUPPTPPPRTN 25,373 16,586
Ot e 2,392 -
Bonds and debt instruments designated at fair Value ..o 332,985 288,497

Derecognition

71.

Pledged assets are specified as follows:

Mortgage loans in Kaupthing mortgages FUNG ...t 88,374 84,165

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into transactions that result in the transfer of financial assets to third parties or special entities.
The Bank has transferred retail mortgage loans to the Kaupthing mortgages Fund, but has retained substantially all of the credit risk associated
with the transferred assets, and continues to recognise these assets within loans to customers.

Pledged assets

72.

Financial assets that may be repledged or resold by counterparties 2007 2006
BONGS .. h Rt h ettt 194,695 88,216
SRS e 125,278 32,311

LYo o T=To B Y= OSSO 319,973 120,527

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities borrowing and lending activities,
as well as requirements determined by exchanges where the bank acts as an intermediary.
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Investments in associates

73.

Investment in associates are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Carrying amount at the beginning Of the YEAI ..........ociiiiiiii s 5,304 13,888
AdItIoNS AUINNG the YEAT ..o ettt ettt et enea e 26,329 5,400
Sold during the YEar .........ocooiiiiiiiii e (512) (11,868)
Transferred from financial assets at fair value due to Step aCqUISITION ...........coeiiiiiiiiiii e 44,111 -
SNAIE OF PIOTIt 1.ttt ettt 3,459 1,194
Dividend received ... (149) (4,103)
EXCNANGE 1ate iffErENCE ..ottt 5,289 792
Carrying amount at the Nd Of the YEAI ..........cieieiieieicecc e b e e e e 83,831 5,304
Main associates are specified as follows: Currency Total Total Owner- Share of Nominal Book
assets liabilities ship profit value value
Storebrand ASA, NOTWaY .......cccceverierieiiniaiaiaenn NOK 2,874,809 2,589,505 20.0% 3,072 35,130 73,807
Kaupthing Capital Partners ..........cccocooiiviiiien. GBP 9,666 3 40.0% 0 3,000 3,815
Drake Management LLC, USA .......ccooeviiiiininn. usD 13,122 8,748 20.0% 87 10 2,561
Valitor hf., Iceland ... ISK 35,070 33,156 39.5% 19 400 1,657
FiNoble Advisors Private Ltd., India ........c.ccccvernnnn. usD 367 52 20.0% 4) 314 310
Mezzanin Kapital A/S, Denmark .........cccooceevieinnnn. DKK 5,839 3,754 22.7% (49) 154 474
FMS Holding af 2004 A/S, Denmark ........cccccccvvene. DKK 1,157 66 25.0% 16 109 274
Reiknistofa Bankanna, Iceland ................................ ISK 1,740 222 17.3% - - 263
Other assOCIates .......ccooieiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeens 318 670
3,459 83,831

On 14 May 2007 the Bank increased its holding in the Norwegian insurance and financial services company Storebrand ASA to 20.0% of the
company's outstanding shares. This entails that the Bank will hereafter book 20.0% of Storebrand's earnings through the Income Statement.
The effects of these changes, net of tax, were a decrease in equity of ISK 5,111 million. The investment, ISK 44,111, was transferred from shares
and equity instruments to investments in associates. At year-end the fair value of the investment in Storebrand ASA was ISK 59,496 million.

On 18 June 2007 the Bank signed an agreement to acquire a 20.0% stake in the Indian investment services company FiNoble Advisors Private
Ltd. with an option to acquire the remaining 80.0% in five years. The investment creates a foothold for the Bank in the fast growing Indian
financial market.

Intangible assets

74.

The Bank performed impairment test on the carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2007. Impairment tests are performed in the 4th
quarter each year, based on the budgets and business plans approved by the Board of Directors and other assumptions.

Goodwill is distributed among cash-generating units (CGU) in keeping with the main emphasis of monitoring and managing activities. The
emphasis of the Bank has been shifting such that the subsidiaries are less considered as the core of operations. Instead, operations are tending
more towards placing emphasis on the Bank's operational units.

The Bank has defined the five independent CGU of the Bank's operation, each devising its own budget and responsible for its own results. The
costs of the ancillary units are distributed to each CGU. The CGU are as follows: 1) Capital Markets, 2) Investment Banking, 3) Asset
Management & Private Banking, 4) Treasury, and 5) Banking. With regard to this operational restructuring and planning within the group,
goodwill in the Bank’s accounts has been distributed among the CGU according to its origin. As part of the apportioning of the Bank’s goodwiill,
the recoverable amount is measured by value in use.

Each CGU is assessed on its own, in which expectations for return on equity, payout ratio, equity and yield are the main variables in the
assessment of each CGU. An independent operating budget acts as the basis for results for the first year of the scheme, after which the next
three years are based on the return objectives for each CGU and after that it is based on long-term yield of comparable units. The Bank aims to
achieve consolidated 15% return on equity over the next four years. Return objectives are different within each CGU.
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74. cont.
2007 Goodwill
CAPITAI IMAIKETS ..ttt ettt ettt 5,524
INVESTMENT BANKING ..ottt 8,140
TEEASUIY .ttt ettt ettt ettt H et e et e e 4,767
Asset Management and Private Banking .... 5,120
BANKING ettt 36,463
60,014
2006 -
CaAPITAI MAIKETS ...ttt 5,815
INVESTMENT BANKING ...ttt ettt 8,596
=1 USRS PRSPPI 5,001
Asset Management and Private BanKiNg .........cooouiiiiiiiiiiiii et 5,454
BaANKING e 38,252
63,118

75.

Discount
rate
13.6%
13.6%
13.6%
11.3%
10.2%

12.7%
12.7%
12.7%
10.6%

9.6%

Net earnings:
Est. CAGR,
year 1-4
<2%

<2%

<2%

<2%

<2%

<2%
<2%
<2%
18.0%
<2%

The management assesses that likely changes in the key parameters discussed will not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the

recoverable amount.

Intangible assets are specified as follows:
Other

2007 intangible

Goodwill assets Total
Balance at the beginning Of the YEAr ..........ccooiiiiiieee e 63,118 5,183 68,301
EXChANGe rate diffEreNCE . ....ooviiieie e (2,952) (246) (3,198)
AddiItioNS dUIMING the YA ...t - 2,654 2,654
SOl AUMING thE YEAT ...t (77) - (77)
IMIPD@ITNIENT L.ttt ettt ettt e et ettt ettt e ettt ettt (75) - (75)
AMOITISATION .. - (831) (831)
g1 =T aTo ] o] SR =1 SRS 60,014 6,760 66,774
2006
Balance at the beginning Of the YEAr ..........cooiiiiie e 50,481 4,462 54,943
EXChaNGe rate diffEreNCE . .o.oiiiie et 13,088 792 13,880
Additions dUNNG the VBT .....oiiii e - 1,810 1,810
aaTo T T daa Tl TP TSP P PROPTSPPPIINt (451) (819) (1,270)
AMOITISATION ... - (1,062) (1,062)
g1 =T qTo ] o] 3 =1 SRS 63,118 5,183 68,301
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Investment property

76.

77.

Investment property are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Balance at the Deginning Of the YEAI ........iii e 31,584 24,156
EXCNANGE 1ate iffEIENCE ..ottt (30) 3,426
Additions during the year ...................... 1,586 3,475
Disposals through the sale of @ SUDSITIAIY ..........oiiiiiiii s (13,473) -
Other disposals AUMNNG the YEAI ......ooiiii ettt - (2,347)
Fair value adjustments .................... (219) 96
Transferred t0 INVESTMENT PrOPEITY .......oviiiiiie ettt ettt 8,707 2,778

INVESTMENT PIOPEILY ... e e e eae e e e e e e e e em e e 28,155 31,584

The Bank's investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2007 by independent professionally qualified valuers which have recent
experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. Valuations were based on current prices in an active market for
all properties except for the properties located in Iceland where the Bank used discounted cash flow projections.

Leases as lessor

The Bank leases investment property as operating leases (see note 20). The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as
follows:

2007 2006
LSS TNAN ONE VAT ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ene et 952 1,682
OVET 1 YEAI @NA UP 10 5 YBAIS ...ttt ettt ettt et e ettt e ettt et 2,172 4,391
OVEE 5 YRAIS ettt a ettt e E et e et e e 15,146 21,682
Minimum lease payments under NoN-cancellable [8ASES ...........uc.veivieireireeiri et 18,270 27,755

During the year 2007 ISK 1,263 million (2006: ISK 2,274 million) was recognised as rental income in the Income Statement and ISK 38 million
(2006: ISK 20 million) in respect of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense in the Income Statement relating to Investment
Property.

In the Income Statement, direct operating expenses include ISK 1 million relating to Investment Property that was unlet compared to ISK 32
million for the year before.

Property and equipment

78.

Property and equipment are specified as follows:
Real Machinery  Operating Total Total

estate and equipm. lease 2007 2006
Balance at the beginning of the year ..........ccocoiiiiiiii 9,084 11,702 29,082 49,868 35,642
Acquisitions through business combination ............ccccooceviiiiiiiiiiiiceee - 304 - 304 -
Exchange rate difference .... (173) (710) (3,384) (4,267) 7,848
Additions dUriNg the YEar .........ccooiiiiiiiiic e 5,666 3,674 3,113 12,453 13,818
Disposals during the year ..........cocoiiiiiiii e (832) (1,020) (431) (2,283) (4,627)
Transfers ...... - - (1,237) (1,237) (2,813)
Impairment - 7) - 7) -
Gross carrying amount at the end of the year ............ccooeviiiiiiiciicc 13,744 13,943 27,143 54,831 49,868
Previously depreciated ..o 2,044 7,524 9,834 19,402 13,209
Acquisitions through business combination ............ccccoocevriiiieiiiiiiiiiceee - 269 - 269 -
Exchange rate difference ..........ocooovioiiiiiieecee e (68) (572) (1,206) (1,846) 2,961
Depreciation during the YEar ........ccoccioiiiiiiiiie et 455 1,760 3,505 5,720 4,914
TEANSTOIS .. - - (583) (583) (35)
Disposals during the year (101) (479) (265) (845) (1,647)
Total depreciation at the end of the year .........cccoccooviiiiiiiiiiiii 2,330 8,503 11,284 22,117 19,402
Property and eqUIPMENT .......oiiiiii it 11,414 5,441 15,858 32,714 30,466
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79.

80.

Depreciation and amortisation in the Income Statement is specified as follows: 2007 2006
Depreciation of property and EQUIPMENT ...ttt ettt ettt 5,720 4,914
Amortisation of INtANGIDIE @SSETS ..........ooiiiiiii e 830 1,062
[DY=To = TalE=1iTo g T g Yo I 14 o) 111 11T ] o I PP 6,550 5,976

Leases as lessor

The Bank leases out property and equipment under operating leases (see note 20). The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
leases are as follows:

2007 2006
LESS TNAN ONE YA ...ttt 4,286 851
OVET 1 YEAI @NA UP 10 5 YBAIS ...ttt ettt 9,450 3,322
Over 5 years 1,099 4,414
Minimum lease payments under Non-cancellable [8aSES ..........coivieiriiire e e et 14,835 8,587

During the year ended 31 December 2007 ISK 300 million was recognised as rental income in the Income Statement and ISK 0 million in respect
of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense in the Income Statement relating to property and equipment. Comparative amounts
for the year 2006 amounted ISK 2,033 million and ISK 8 million, respectively.

Other assets

81. Other assets are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Unsettled SECUNTIES TraTiNgG .......ooo ittt 239,988 90,427
ACCOUNTS TECRIVADIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt eee e 24,005 8,617
ACCIUB INCOME ..o 15,808 8,004
PrEPAI EXDEINSES ...ttt ettt ettt 2,879 2,846
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale ..o 1,842 2,334
SUNGAIY @SSETS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt h etk e et st s etk R ek R h et h et n ettt 8,187 5,646
OLNEE ASSELS ... euieuieui ettt et et ettt et b b e b e b e b e e eE e SR SR e SR e SR £ £ e A £ s £ s EeReeReeReeh £ eReeReneenRenRenrennan 292,709 117,874
Unsettled securities trading was settled in less than three days from the reporting date.

Borrowings

82. Borrowings are specified as follows:

BONGS ISSUBT ...ttt ettt ettt h bt b ettt 1,638,113 1,762,483
Bills issued ................ 136,813 156,203
MONEY MATKET TOBNS ..ottt sttt h ettt e s e e s ettt ettt e e st e e et e e ens 555,606 373,285
ORI OGNS .o 285,428 107,968
20T 0 (0T oo PR 2,615,960 2,399,939

Included are Repurchase agreements with banks amounting to ISK 178,014 million at the end of the year compared to ISK 94,913 millon at year
end 2006.
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Subordinated loans

83.

Subordinated loans are specified as follows:
2007 2006
Tier | - Non-innovative hybrid CAPIal ........oviiiii e 74,403 23,614
Tier | - Innovative NyDrid CAPITAl ........ooi e 26,427 28,203
THT Il e 166,459 164,213
267,289 216,030
Interest 2007 2006
Orginal Interest after Book Book
Currency interest change change Maturity date value value
Loans that qualify as Tier | capital:
Issued in 20071 ...ooooieiieeieeiiee ISK 8.65% 2011 Min8,75 %' No maturity date 1,369 1,310
3 m Euribor +
Issued in 2004 .........cceeevieiiiie EUR 5.90% 2014 245bp No maturity date 14,292 15,095
Issued in 2005 .....ccooevveiieeeeiieee EUR 6.25% No maturity date 15,978 16,685
3 m Reibor +
Issued in 2005 ........cccoeeeivieiiiee ISK 1,4% No maturity date 3,353 3,353
3 m USD Libor
Issued in 2005 .........ccceeeiveeiiiiee usb 6.60% 2015 + 248bp No maturity date 10,767 11,798
3 m Reibor +
Issued in 2006 .........ccceeevveeiiiiiei ISK 1,4% No maturity date 3,578 3,576
Issued in 2007 ....cocovviiiiiiiiiiee EUR 6.75% No maturity date 23,976 -
Issued in 2007 ....cocoeviiiiiiiiiee usb 9.00% No maturity date 27,519 -
100,831 51,817
Loans that qualify as Tier Il capital: .....
Issued in 1996 ........coceevveeviieein, DKK 0.00% 2007 - 228
Issued in 1999 .......coooeiiieiiie EUR 6.40% 2009 2,893 3,067
Issued in 1999 ........ccooveeiiiiieie, JPY 4.80% 2032 6,787 7,461
Issued in 2000 ........ccooveeiieeiieiee ISK 7.00% 2007 9.00% 2012 29 2,135
Issued in 20071 ....ccoooovviieiieiieie ISK 6.00% 2006 7.50% 2011 - 122
Issued in 2002 .....ccoooeeeiieeieee ISK 6.00% 2007 7.50% 2012 - 1,021
Issued in 2002 ........cooveeiieiiiiee, ISK 7.50% 2009 10.00% 2014 1,514 1,429
Issued in 2002 .....c.oooveeiieeieie ISK 8.00% 2026 - 264
3 m Euribor + 3 m Euribor
Issued in 2002 .....ccooeeveiieeeeiieeee EUR 115bp 2007 + 365bp 2012 - 474
Issued in 2003 ........cooveeeiieiieie GBP 7.50% 2019 6,252 6,976
Issued in 2004 .........coeeeiieiiie ISK 5.40% 2009 7.4% 2014 1,764 1,666
3 m Euribor + 3 m Euribor
Issued in 2004 .........cceeevieiiiie EUR 65bp 2009 + 165bp 2014 27,408 28,281
Issued in 2004 .........cceevviiiiiie DKK 3.00% 2008 - 142
4x(CMS
10y/2y)
Issued in 2005 ........oooeeeiieeeeee usb 7.50% 2010 10%/3,75% 2045 4,816 5,512
Ax(CMS
10y/2y)
Issued in 2005 ........ccceeeiiieiiiiee, EUR 6.50% 2010 9%/3% 2045 7,667 7,903
3 m Euribor + 3 m Euribor
Issued in 2005 .....cccovvveiiiiiiii EUR 40bp 2012 + 140bp 2017 4,616 4,758
Issued in 2006 .........ccceeevveeiiiiii, usb 7.13% 2016 84,401 92,774
Issued in 2007 ....cccoeeveeieeiiee EUR 4.30% 2007 5.10% 2013 18,312 -
166,459 164,213
SUDOIAINATEA [OBNS .......eeiiiiciie e ettt ee et et e eab e e te e est e e saeeeseeesseseabensaseaassessaeeanseeeasesenbensnneansns 267,289 216,030

1. Maximum of i) 8,75% or ii) Yield of 10 year Icelandic inflation linked government bonds + 5,73%
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Financial liabilities measured at fair value

84.

85.

86.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value are specified as follows:

Trading HADIITIES ...ttt ettt

Derivatives used for hedging - portfolio hedge of interest rate risk

Mortgage funding measured at fair VAlUE ...........c.oooiiiiiiii e

Financial liabilities measured at fair VAU .............c.oo oot

Trading liabilities are specified as follows:

Short position in equity instruments held fOr trading ...........ooiiiiiiii e
Derivatives Neld fOr trading .........ovioiiieo e

Repos and related agreements held fOr trading .......ccoooiiiiiiiii e
Other liabilities held fOr trading ...........ooiii e

Lo LT T 1T o 3OS

Derivatives used for hedging are specified as follows:

FAIF VAlUE NEAGE ...ttt s ettt ettt
Portfolio hedge Of INEIESt FAte MISK ............cuiiiiiei ettt

Derivatives USed fOr NEAGING ..o et e et

Tax assets and tax liabilities

87.

88.

Tax assets and liabilities are specified as follows:

(V=] ol A ) PSP P PP PUPRPRURRPPRPPIY

Deferred tax ....

Tax assets and abilities ..............ccooe oo

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are specified as follows:

2007

Balance at the beginning Of the YEAr ..........c.ooiiiiiee e

Acquisition through busingss COMBDINATION ..........oiiiiiiiiiie i
Disp0osals AUIMNG The YEAI ....o..iiiiiiii ettt

Exchange rate difference on translation .............cc.ooiiiiiiiie e

Calculated INCOME taX fOr the YEAI ... .iiiiiiii s
INCome tax reCcOgNISEd iN EQUITY «....oiiuiiiii ettt

INncome tax t0 DE PAId IN NEXT YEAT .....iiviiiiiie it

Net tax assets aNd (lIADIlILIES) ........evicereiiiiiieiee it ee e e ae e s e e e s e s sab e e s sanb e e e saranes

2006

Balance at the beginning Of the YEAr ..........ccooiiiiiie e

Exchange rate difference on translation

OtNEI CNANGES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt

Calculated income tax for the year ..

INCOME taX reCOGNISEA IN EQUILY .....viiviiiiiie ettt
Income tax to be Paid IN NEXT YEAI ......iiiiiiii e

Net tax assets and (labilities) ..............ooo oo
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2007 2006

199,443 51,095

10,815 8,768

7,687 11,401

217,945 71,264

2,305 2,122

100,273 48,788

96,865 -

- 185

199,443 51,095

1,859 1,070

8,956 7,698

10,815 8,768

2007 2006

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
1,766 9,636 26 10,180
5,133 12,842 5,808 13,029
6,899 22,478 5,834 23,209
Assets Liabilities Net
5,808 13,030 (7,222)

47 (39) 86
- 395 (395)
632 1,168 (536)
412 10,128 (9,716)

- (2,202) 2,202

(1,766) (9,638) 7,872
5,133 12,842 (7,709)

5,004 10,343 (5,339)

234 690 (456)

- (581) 581

596 15,232 (14,636)

- (2,474) 2,474

(26) (10,180) 10,154

5,808 13,030 (7,222)

Amounts are in ISK millions
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89. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are specified as follows:
Addition/
Exchange rate disposal Recognised
and other  during the in profit Recognised At
2007 AtJan. 1 adjustment year or loss in equity Dec. 31
Shares in other COMPANIES .......cc.ooviiiiiiiiiieicee e 3,032 225 (196) 1,294 - 4,355
Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities ..................... 1,540 116 - 4,589 (2,202) 4,043
LONS ettt 5,425 402 (3) (5,644) - 180
DEMVATIVES ... 97 7 - (113) - 9)
Investment property and property and equipment ..............c....... 1,447 107 (1) 3,769 - 5,322
Other assets and liabilities ............ccooviiiiiii e (2,704) (201) (83) 1,206 - (1,782)
Tax loss carry forward .........cccooviiiiiiiiic e (1,615) (119) 591 (3,257) - (4,400)
Change in deferred taX ......ccooevierierieneseeeeere e ee e e e e e 7,222 537 308 1,844 (2,202) 7,709
2006
Shares in other compPanies ..........ccooveviiiiiiiiece e 1,516 190 - 1,326 - 3,032
Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities ..................... 502 65 - 3,447 (2,474) 1,540
LONS ettt 5,643 724 - (942) - 5,425
Derivatives (841) (183) - 1,121 - 97
Investment property and property and equipment ..............c....... 455 104 - 888 - 1,447
Other assets and liabilities ............coooviiiiiii e (667) (734) - (1,303) - (2,704)
Tax loss carry forward .........ccoooiiiiiiiiie e (1,269) (291) - (55) - (1,615)
Change in deferred taX .....c..cooeieeiririececec e 5,339 (125) - 4,482 (2,474) 7,222
90. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
2007 2006
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Shares in Other COMPANIES .......c..iiiiiiiie e - 4,355 (18) 3,015
Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities ... 54 4,096 35 1,574
OIS ettt 2 182 291 5,716
DEIIVATIVES ... e 75 66 (32) 65
Investment property and property and qUIPMENT ......cc.oiiiiiiiiiiiie e - 5,323 1,454 2,901
Other assets and lADIlITIES ..........ooiiii e 1,783 - 1,788 (918)
Tax 0SS CArry TOrWAIA ... 3,219 (1,180) 2,290 676
Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the year ...........ccocviiiiiiiiii i 5,133 12,842 5,808 13,029
Other liabilities
91. Other liabilities are specified as follows: 2007 2006
Unsettled securities trading .... 64,560 91,661
P OVISIONS ... 2,303 4,666
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ...ttt ettt ettt s ettt s ettt ettt 7,652 4,410
SUNAIY TADIITIES ..ttt ettt ettt et et e et e et e et e et e 72,182 48,211
(01 gT= g = oY1 =T ST 146,697 148,948
Unsettled securities trading was settled in less than three days from the reporting date.
92. Provisions are specified as follows:

PrOVISION FOI PENSIONS ...ttt ettt h ettt ettt et ettt ettt et ene e ene 1,738 3,679
Provision fOr I0SSES ON GUATANTEES ..........c..iiviiiiiieie ettt ettt 61 263
Other provisions 504 724
Lo (01710 o OSSP UPOSPPP 2,303 4,666
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Equity

Shareholders' equity

93. According to the Parent Company's Articles of Association, total share capital amounts to ISK 7,405 million. At year-end 2007 own shares
amounted to ISK 34 million and share capital, according to the Balance Sheet, thus amounted to ISK 7,371 million. One share has a nominal
value of ISK 10. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per

94.

share at shareholders' meetings of the Bank.

Increase of share capital during the year is broken down as follows: 2007 2006
Share Market Share Market

capital value capital value
Shares outstanding at 1 January ... 7,321 615,696 6,638 495,195
ISSURT MW SNATES ...ttt ettt - - 759 55,558
Purchases and sales of treasury STOCK ...........ccvioiiiiiiieii e 50 (4,045) (76) (5,730)
Changes iN MArket VAU .........ooiiiiiiiie e 36,997 - 70,673
Shares outstanding at 31 DECEMDET ........oiiiiiiiiiiiit e 7,371 648,648 7,321 615,696
OWN SNAIES ... 34 2,992 84 7,064
Movement in share capital during the year segregates as follows:
2007 Share Share Stock

capital premium options Total
BalanCe @t T JANUAIY ..o 7,321 163,512 516 171,349
Purchases and sales of treasury STOCK .........c.oiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 50 (4,045) - (3,995)
Exercised StOCK OPTIONS .......iiiiiii e - 1,220 (504) 716
STOCK OPTION EXPEINSE ....viiiiiiieie ettt ettt ettt - - 1,522 1,522
BalaNCe 371 DECEMDET ...ttt 7,371 160,687 1,534 169,592
2006
Balance at T JANUAIY ......ooiiii e 6,638 114,437 169 121,244
ISSURT MW SNATES ...ttt ettt 759 54,799 - 55,558
Purchases and sales of treasury STOCK ...........ccvioiiiiiiiiie e (76) (5,948) - (6,024)
EXErCised STOCK OPTIONS ...ooviiiiiii it - 224 (224) -
StOCK OPTION EXPENSE ...ttt - - 571 571
Balance 31 DM ... .. 7,321 163,512 516 171,349

Share premium represents excess of payment above nominal value (ISK 10 per share) that shareholders have paid for shares sold by the Bank.
According to Icelandic Companies Act, 25% of the nominal value of share capital must be held in reserve which can not be paid out as dividend

to shareholders.

The share option reserve includes the accrued part of the fair value of share options. This reserve is reversed if share options are exercised or

forfeited.

Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007 50

Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Other reserves

95.

Movement in other reserves were as follows:

2007 Fair value Translation
reserve reserve Total
BAlANCE AT 1 JANUAIY .....ooeoeee e (11) 17,231 17,220
Translation diffErENCE .......c..ooiii e - (31,866) (31,866)
Deferred PENSION FESEIVE .........oiiiiiiee ettt 19 - 19
BalaNCe 31 DECEMDET .. .o 8 (14,635) (14,627)

2006 Pension  Fair value Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
BAIANCE @t 1 JANUAIY ..o (480) ) (1,058) (1,540)
Translation differeNCe .......c..ooiiii e - - 18,289 18,289
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale financial @ssets ...............cccccooieiiiiiiiceciicee, - 9) - 9)
Deferred PENSION MESEIVE .......cuiiiiieiiit ittt 480 - - 480
Balance 371 DECEMDET ... .o - 11 17,231 17,220

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative portion of the cumulative net change in fair value of available-for-sale investments until the

investment is derecognised.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve compromise all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
that are not integral to the operations of the Bank, as well as from the translation liabilities that hedge the Bank's net investment in foreign

subsidiaries.

Pension reserve
The pension reserve includes the changes in the pension obligation.
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Derivatives

96. Derivatives remaining maturity date of principal and book value are specified as follows:

2007

Currency and interests rate derivatives, agreements

unlisted:
Forward exchange rate agreements ...........ccccoooiiiiiiiiieieeen.
Interest rate and exchange rate agreements .
Options - purchased agreements ...........c.ooceeveieiieiii e
Options - sold agreements ..........cocvovveieiieiciieee e

Equity derivatives:
Equity swaps, agreements unlisted .............cccoevvviiiiiiiieenne.
Equity options, purchased unlisted agreements ........................
Equity options, sold unlisted agreements ............cccooveveenrnen.
Futures, agreements listed ..o
Contracts for differences ........ccovveiiiiiiiiiee

Credit derivative contracts:
Credit default swap and Corporate Synthetic CDOs .................
Total rate of return SWaps ......c.ccooveiiieiiiecece e

Bond derivatives:
Bond swaps, agreements unlisted ............cccoocciiiiiiiiiiiii
Options - purchased agreements .........cccocvevveieeieie e
Options - sold agreements ..........cccooovieiiiiiiiiiieeee e

DETIVALIVES ...eeiciierie it e ee e er et ee e e e e e e e enree e
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Principal Book value
Over 3
months

Upto3 andupto Over 1
months ayear year Total Assets Liabilities
2,329,301 136,964 24,394 2,490,659 20,269 15,946
764,533 515,492 2,728,407 4,008,431 65,957 44,733
59,555 20,344 45,670 125,569 5,679 -
44,911 23,813 48,762 117,486 29 4,127
3,198,300 696,613 2,847,233 6,742,145 91,934 64,806
131,682 12,217 211,076 354,975 19,506 3,953
12,064 601 - 12,666 598 -
9,762 4,386 - 14,148 - 2,091
2,484 - - 2,484 - -
90,345 - 211,075 301,420 30,716 19,264
246,337 17,205 422,152 685,693 50,820 25,309
- - 32,081 32,081 96 13,304
- - 48,052 48,052 1,786 -
- - 80,133 80,133 1,882 13,304
39,792 18,373 22,828 80,993 6,128 765
600 3,122 6,850 10,572 6,595 -
600 3,122 6,850 10,572 - 6,905
40,992 24,617 36,528 102,137 12,722 7,670
3,485,629 738,434 3,386,045 7,610,108 157,359 111,088
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96. cont.
2006 Principal Book value
Over 3
months
Upto3 andupto Over 1
months ayear year Total Assets Liabilities
Currency and interests rate derivatives, agreements
unlisted:
Forward exchange rate agreements .........cccooevvvevieieieencennn, 1,428,174 137,042 4,879 1,570,095 13,178 12,575
Interest rate and exchange rate agreements .............cccccoeeeeneee. 117,595 364,708 1,942,931 2,425,234 37,976 30,529
Options - purchased agreements .........cccooevverieiiie e 53,139 22,730 62,242 138,111 2,870 63
Options - sold agreements ..........cccoooviiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 48,438 24,876 40,738 114,052 93 2,452
1,647,346 549,356 2,050,790 4,247,492 54,117 45,619
Equity derivatives:
Equity swaps, agreements unlisted .............cccoevviiiiiiiiiiienne. 35,888 9,076 4,886 49,850 8,430 3,369
Equity options, purchased unlisted agreements ........................ 4,308 - 2,700 7,008 90 73
Equity options, sold unlisted agreements ............ccccooeeiernnes. 338 - 2,700 3,038 151 10
Futures, agreements listed ..o 1,527 - - 1,527 15 -
Contracts for differences .........ccocvvviiiiiiiiiee 3,959 - - 3,959 32 -
46,020 9,076 10,286 65,382 8,718 3,452
Credit derivative contracts:
Credit default swap and Corporate Synthetic CDOs ................. 4,257 - 212,929 217,186 36 8
Total rate of return SWaps .........cccocvevveiieiecieceeeeee e - - 45,999 45,999 - 1,733
4,257 - 258,927 263,185 36 1,741
Bond derivatives:
Bond swaps, agreements unlisted ..........cccocovviiiiiiniiiiennn, 22,360 2,939 25,471 50,770 2,307 102
Options - purchased agreements ...........ccccceeeviioiienii i - 401 13,931 14,332 6,729 -
Options - sold agreements ..........coceovveieiieiiiieee e - 401 13,931 14,332 - 6,717
22,360 3,741 53,333 79,434 9,036 6,819
DEIMVALIVES ... eeee ettt e e e 1,719,983 562,173 2,373,336 4,655,493 71,907 57,631

The objective of the above-mentioned agreements is to control currency and interest rate risk of the Bank. The credit risk is valued at ISK 71,379
million when calculating the capital ratio of the Bank at 31 December 2007 and ISK 30,575 million at 31 December 2006.

Off Balance Sheet information

Obligations

97. The Bank has granted its customers guarantees, overdraft permissions and loan commitments. These items are specified as follows:

2007 2006
GUATANTEES ... e e 152,581 324,929

Credit default swaps, investment grade . 319,065 217,186
UNUSEA OVEIATATLS ...ttt 73,844 50,927
LOAN COMMUITMIENTS ..ot 278,481 317,689

The credit risk is valued at ISK 235 billion at the end of the year 2007 (2006: ISK 226 billion) for guarantees, credit default swaps, unused
overdrafts and loan commitments when calculating the capital ratio of the Bank.

Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007 53 Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Operating lease commitments

98.

99.

At 31 December 2007, the Bank was obligated under a number of non-cancellable operating leases for premises and equipment. The significant
premises leases usually include renewal options and escalation clauses in line with general office rental market conditions as well as rent
adjustments based on price indices. However, the lease agreements do not contain contingent rent payment clauses and purchase options.

The Bank has concluded lease agreements regarding the real estate it uses for its operations. The lease agreement is for a period of up to 14
years and the Bank has priority right of purchase or right to extend the lease agreement at the end of that period.

FULUFE MINIMUM TEASE PAYMENTS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt o2t s ettt e et e st e et et e et et et e e et et e st ettt et et e ene e s 10,528

Risk management disclosures

100. Kaupthing is a northern European bank offering comprehensive retail, corporate and investment banking services to individuals, companies and

institutional investors. The Bank has five core business areas: Banking; Asset Management and Private Banking; Investment Banking; Capital
Markets and Treasury (see note 40). It also has ancillary divisions such as Risk Management, IT, Finance and Sales and Marketing.

The Bank faces various types of risks related to its business as a financial institution arising from its day to day operations. Management devotes
a significant portion of its time to the management of these risks. The mainstays of effective risk management are the identification of significant
risk, the quantification of the risk exposure, actions to limit risk and the constant monitoring of risk. The most significant of these risks are
discussed below.

Material risks

a)  Credit risk
Credit risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from the failure of an obligor to repay principal or interest at the
stipulated time or otherwise to perform as agreed. This risk is enhanced if the assigned collateral only partly covers the claims made on the
borrower or if its value is variable or uncertain. Credit risk arises anytime the Bank commits its funds, resulting in capital or earnings being
dependent on counterparty, issuer or borrower performance. The risk comprises concentration risk, residual risk, credit risk in securitisation, cross
border (or transfer) risk and more.

b)  Market risk
Market risk is the current or prospective risk that changes in financial market prices and rates will fluctuate the value and cash flows of financial
instruments. The risk arises from market making, dealing, and position taking in bonds, securities, currencies, commaodities, derivatives, and any
other commitment depending on market prices and rates.

¢)  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk arising from the possible inability of the Bank to meet its liabilities when they come due. It is an unavoidable source of risk
in the Bank’s operations as the Bank requires funding to support its investments.

a)  Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss, resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human and system error, or from external events that
affect the Bank’s operations and can result in direct losses. The risk is present in all five core business areas and in the ancillary divisions.

Credit Risk Strategy
Carefully monitored credit risk is a base for stable profits. Undertaking credit risk is a cornerstone in the Bank's strategy for maintaining at least
15% long-term return on equity. The main asset of the Bank is its loan portfolio, and therefore managing and analysing the loan portfolio is very
important. The emphasis is on keeping a high quality credit portfolio, by seeking business with strong parties, maintaining a strict credit process,
critically inspecting loan applications, identifying and reacting to possible problem loans at an early stage and other measures.

a)  Credit structure

A fundamental requirement is to have a comprehensive structure for credits which is coherent across the Bank and within each subsidiary as
well. The highest authority in credits is the Parent Company Board Credit Committee. The structure is based on a hierarchy of Credit Committees
below the Board Credit Committee which operate on 2-3 levels and within different limits depending on the size of subsidiaries. The principle of
central management of risk is maintained by having the Bank's CEO or his deputy as a member of the Board Credit Committee in each
subsidiary. This is necessary since the CEQ is responsible for maintaining the bank’s exposures within legal and policy limits.

The pricing of each credit granted should reflect the risk taken. The client’s interests must be guarded at all times and it must be considered
likely that the client will be able to repay a given loan. In particular, the quality of collateral can never be the sole reason for a positive credit
decision.

Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007 54 Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

100. cont.

It is the aim of the credit strategy that, in the long run, write-offs should be less than 5% of interest income. All aspects of the credit process
should be designed and implemented with this long-term goal in mind.

Provisions for losses reflect the expected loss, both for loans for which specific provisions exist as well as for portfolios of performing loans. The
collective assessment of such portfolios is based on default predictions and loss given default parameters.

The Bank's total credit risk should be limited through diversification of the loan portfolio across sectors and by limiting large exposures.

b)  Quantification and Rating model description
The basic elements for the quantification of credit risk are the probability of default, the loss given default, and exposure at default. These
guantities need to be measured with an effective and accurate credit rating system. Information, both quantitative and qualitative, must be
gathered, both specifically in regard to the counterparty and to its general economic situation in order to estimate its creditworthiness.
Furthermore, a facility rating should be performed to determine the loss parameters in case of a default.
The policy of the Bank is to apply sophisticated credit models to monitor credit risk. These credit models are also the foundation for the
application of internal rating based approach to calculate capital requirements. Therefore, the development, implementation and application of
these models must be in accordance with the Bank's Basel Il strategy.

Sources of Credit Risk

a)  Loan portfolio
The main assets of the Bank are its loans. To maintain and further improve the quality of the loan portfolio it is imperative to scrutinise all
applications and weed out potential problem loans as early as possible, as well as constantly monitor the current loan portfolio. However, it is not
the policy of the Bank to solely issue credit of very low risk but it is important that the price of issued credit reflects both risk and costs incurred.
This means that a detailed assessment of individual customers, their financial position and the collateral is a prerequisite for granted credits.

b)  Commitments and guarantees
The Bank often commits itself to and ensures that funds are available to customers as required. The most common commitments to extend credit
are in the form of limits on check accounts, credit cards and credit lines. Potential loss on these accounts is equal to the amount of the limits
although they may only be partly used at any one time. In practice, the potential loss is less severe since many of these commitments can be
recalled immediately by the Bank in case the clients do not meet credit standards.
Guarantees carry the credit risk to the full amount similar as loans, since they represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments
in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties.

¢)  Derivatives trading
Derivative financial instruments used by the Bank include swaps, futures, forwards, options and other similar types of contracts whose value
changes in response to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, security prices, commodity prices or price indices. Limits on the net
open derivative positions on these types of contracts are strictly controlled by the Bank. These limits are generally client specific and may refer
specifically to different categories of contracts. Generally, collateral is required to cover potential losses on a contract. Acceptable collateral for
margin accounts is in the front of very liquid assets, e.g. cash or traded stocks. In case the net negative position of the contract falls below a
certain level a call for added collateral is made. If extra collateral is not supplied the contract is closed.

a)  Master netting agreements

Frequently, exposure to credit losses is reduced by entering into master netting agreements with clients that counterparties have significant
and/or diverse credit related business with the Bank. Master netting agreements do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and
liabilities, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favourable contracts is reduced by these
types of agreements since in the case of default all amounts of the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.

Loan provisioning

An allowance for credit losses is established if there is objective evidence that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts due on a claim, i.e. a
loan, commitment, guarantee etc., according to the original contractual terms or the equivalent value. An allowance for credit losses is reported
as a reduction of the carrying value of a claim on the balance sheet, whereas for an off-balance sheet item such as a commitment a provision for
credit loss is reported in Other liabilities. Additions to the allowances and provisions for credit losses are made through impairment on loans.
Allowances and provisions for credit losses are evaluated at a counterparty-specific level and collectively based on the following principles:
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a

b

Counterparty-specific

A claim is considered impaired when there is an object evidence that it is probable that the Bank will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original contractual terms or the equivalent value. Individual credit exposures are evaluated based upon the borrower’s
character, overall financial condition, resources and payment record; the prospects for support from any financially responsible guarantors; and,
where applicable, the realisable value of any collateral.

The estimated recoverable amount is the present value, using the loan's original effective interest rate, of expected future cash flows, which may
result from restructuring or liquidation. Impairment is measured and allowances for credit losses are established for the difference between the
carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount.

Upon impairment, the accrual of interest income based on the original terms of the claim is discontinued, but the increase of the present value
of impaired claims due to the passage of time is reported as interest income.

All impaired claims are reviewed and analysed at least every three months. Any subsequent changes to the amounts and timing of the expected
future cash flows compared to the prior estimates will result in a change in the allowances for credit losses and be charged or credited through
impairment on loans.

An allowance for impairment is reversed only when the credit quality has improved such that there is reasonable assurance of timely collection of
principal and interest in accordance with the original contractual terms of the claim agreement.

A write-off is made when all or part of a claim is deemed uncollectible or forgiven. Write-offs are charged against previously established
allowances for credit losses or directly to credit loss expense and reduce the principal amount of a claim. Recoveries in part or in full of amounts
previously written off are credited to credit loss expense.

Collectively

All loans for which no impairment is identified on a counterparty-specific level are grouped into economically homogeneous portfolios to
collectively assess whether impairment exists within a portfolio. Allowances from collective assessment of impairment are recognised as credit
loss expense and result in an offset to the loan position. As the allowance cannot be allocated to individual loans, interest is accrued on all loans
according to contractual terms.

101. Maximum exposure to credit risk by geographical

Maximum exposure to credit risk related to on-balance sheet assets:

2007 Scandi- Luxem-
Iceland navia UK bourg Other Total
Cash and balances with central banks ...................cccccceeccuune..... 1,034 14,632 79719 1,653 927 97,959
Loans to crediit institutions ... 207,884 138275 98,720 7,902 135,660 588,441
LOANS TO CUSTOMEBLS ... 837,761 1,100,163 735,344 62,643 568,497 3,304,408
OVEIAIATS oot 83,550 1,814 260 - 0 85,624
FINANCE 1RASES ... - 39,845 31,110 - 2,642 73,597
Subordinated 10aNS .........ccoiiiiiiiiiie e 30,303 7,714 311 - - 38,328
Other l08NS ... 723,908 1,050,790 703,663 62,643 565,855 3,106,859
Bonds and debt inStruments .............cccccveeveveeceeeceaiiiieiieie 23,499 193,555 17,052 4,768 129,076 367,350
[y C=To [T 21,452 179,955 13,546 4,168 116,742 335,863
UNBSEEA o 2,047 5,689 3,506 0) 12,334 23,576
Mortgage loans - Real credit l0ans ...........cccooocviiiiiiiiiiie - 7,911 - - - 7,911
DEIIVALIVES ...t 35,003 71,533 48672 799 39,449 134,856
Derivatives used for hedging ...............cccoccveveeeeeveeiieeeeieenn. 16,617 1,872 1,724 - 2,290 22,503
Bond's and debt instruments used for hedging ......................... 63,723 867 3102 - 359 68,057
LISTEA .t 63,349 128 2,531 - 38 66,045
UNBSEEA 1o 374 739 571 - 321 2,005
Other FINANCIAl @SSOTLS ............oeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 28,933 201,270 26,538 1,638 5614 263,993
Total on-balance sheet maximum exposure to credit risk ............. 1,214,453 1,662,167 1,010,871 78,203 881,866 4,847,561
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Maximum exposure to credit risk related to off-balance sheet items:

Scandi- Luxem-
Iceland navia UK bourg Other Total
Financial GUArantees .......cc.vveeee i e 29,795 43,970 65,135 44 13,636 152,580
Credit default swaps, investment grade .. - 4,583 45,280 - 269,202 319,065
Unused overdrafts ........cooeee oo 56,296 14,906 - - 2,642 73,844
Loan COMMItMENTS ...c.viiviiiiiieiiee e 31,242 125,854 87,558 - 33,827 278,481
Total off-balance sheet maximum exposure to credit risk .... 117,333 189,313 197,973 44 319,308 823,970
2006
Cash and balances with central banks ...................ccccceeeccuun..... 986 40616 64,677 - 683 106,961
L0ans to Crediit INSHLUIONS ...........c..ccvevveeceeieiiiieeiieieieeein 306,849 98,755 70,668 4,754 4,308 485,334
Loans to customers 635,056 1,016,530 615,170 56,793 215,067 2,538,609
OVEIAIATLS oot 69,978 - 25,116 18,259 - 113,354
FINANCE 18ASE ... - 62,337 27,678 - 2,990 93,006
Subordinated loans ... 7,369 - - - - 7,369
MOFTGAGES ..t 2,036 155 62,478 - 9,791 74,460
Other [08NS ...cueiiiiie it 555,673 954,037 499,896 38,534 202,280 2,250,421
Bonds and debt inStruments .............cccccoeeeeeeeceiiiieeeeeee 20,091 189,461 5165 1,917 101,636 318264
LISTEA vt 17,154 152,048 2,452 10 101,164 272,827
UNBSEEA .o 2,937 26,904 2,713 1,901 471 34,927
Mortgage loans - Real credit [0ans ...........cccooiviiiieiiiicin, - 10,509 - - - 10,509
DEITVALIVES ... 18,387 6,533 15,680 4,204 20,650 65,454
Derivatives used for hedging .............cccccovvvvcevceesiivieniearenn, - 1,474 1,899 - 3,080 6,453
Bonds and debt instruments used for hedging ........................ 64,837 539 788 - 575 66,732
LISTEA et 64,452 66 259 - 563 65,340
UNBSEEA .o 379 472 529 - 12 1,391
Other fINANCIAl @SSELS ............ccoiveieeiieeeieseeeeee e 71,644 79,187 6,392 17,3371 491 99,044
Total on-balance sheet maximum exposure to credit risk ............. 1,057,844 1,433,093 780,439 68,992 346,484 3,686,850
Maximum exposure to credit risk related to off-balance sheet items:
Financial GUArantees .........c.coovivvoiiiieiiiie et 11,886 34,233 184,892 83,861 10,056 324,928
Credit default swaps, investment grade ...........c.ccooveiieieieennnnn - 231 93,270 - 123,684 217,186
Unused overdrafts ..........ocoviiiiiii 50,557 370 - - - 50,927
Loan CommMItMENTS ......ooiiiiiiieeee e 23,002 168,981 112,214 986 12,507 317,690
Total off-balance sheet maximum exposure to credit risk ............ 85,445 203,815 390,376 84,847 146,248 910,731
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102. Maximum exposure to credit risk by sector

Maximum exposure to credit risk related to on-balance sheet assets:

2007

Cash and balances with central banks ...................
Loans to crediit INSttUtionsS .................cccoevvcvveean.
L0ans to CUSTOMEIS ........ccccceeeeeeeeiiiiiiaeeeee,
OVerdrafts ....ooveiieiiiie e
FINance 18ase .....oovooiiiiiiiic
Subordinated 10aNns ..........ccoooviiiiiiiie
MOITGAGES e
Other [0aNS ......c.ooiiiiiiiiecee e

UNBSted ..o

Mortgage loans - Real credit loans ......................
DEIIVALIVES ..o
Derivatives used for hedging
Bonds and debt instruments used for hedging ......

Total on-balance sheet maximum
exposure to credit sk .........ocovvviiiveiiiiieicen

Maximum exposure to credit risk related to off-balance sheet items:

Financial guarantees ...........ccccccoeeviiieieiieice,
Credit default swaps, investment grade ..................
Unused overdrafts ..........ocoviiviiiiiiii
Loan Commitments

Total on-balance sheet maximum
exposure to credit risk ...

2006

Cash and balances with central banks ...................
Loans to crediit INSttUtionsS .................cccooveeeveinn.
L0ans to CUSTOMENS ........cccceeeeeeeeeiiiiieeeeee,
OVerdrafts ..o.oovviiieiiiic
FINance 18ase ....oovooiiiiiiiic
Subordinated 10aNns ..........ccoooviiiiiiiie e
MOITGAGES .ot
Other [0aNS ......c.coveiiiiiiecee e

UNBSted ..o
Mortgage loans - Real crediit loans .........................
DEIIVALIVES ..o
Derivatives used for hedging
Bonds and debt instruments used for hedging ......

Total on-balance sheet maximum
exposure to credit sk .........ocovviiiviiiiiieieens

1. Included is financial service.
Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007

Holding Real
Individuals companies Industry estate Service' Other Total
- - - - 97,959 - 97,959
- - - - 588,441 - 588,441
563,592 488,957 564,943 684,224 604,589 398,103 3,304,407
54,744 - 6,437 15 16,547 7,881 85,624
5,477 - 17,464 744 41,192 8,721 73,597
- 28,815 224 2,307 6,982 - 38,328
59,096 - - 32,320 1,170 - 92,586
444,275 460,142 540,818 648,838 538,698 381,502 3,014,273
- 2,865 26,149 5435 201,201 131,699 367,350
- 79 22,623 1 183,309 129,851 335,863
- 2,786 426 5,192 15,141 31 23,576
- - 3,100 242 2,751 1,819 7,911
4,909 24,969 5622 1,379 80,318 17,659 134,856
- 773 470 37 14,882 6,406 22,503
- 571 2,642 - 64,838 - 68,052
- - 2,215 - 63,829 - 66,044
- 571 426 - 1,008 - 2,005
420 7,587 1,443 18 246,780 7,744 263,993
568,921 525,722 601,209 691,087 1,899,008 561,614 4,847,561
3,372 6,170 23,465 13,461 87,872 18,240 152,581
- 9,804 4,950 4,239 299,155 917 319,065
55,295 - 9,118 376 7,382 1,671 73,843
1,674 8,882 153,728 23,189 87,864 3,144 278,481
60,341 24,856 191,261 41,266 482,273 23,973 823,969
- - - - 106,967 - 106,961
- - - - 485,334 - 485,334
421,409 342,712 616,882 396,023 505,183 256,399 2,538,609
25,602 73,259 3,078 44 7,684 3,686 113,354
3,178 1,195 16,484 14 63,962 8,172 93,006
- 440 951 2,222 3,756 - 7,369
44,377 - 4,011 19,467 4,021 2,583 74,460
348,252 267,818 592,358 374,275 425,761 241,957 2,250,421
- - 36,867 7,237 159,802 114,358 318264
- - 29,236 4,565 137,467 101,560 272,827
- - 3,631 2,314 18,768 10,215 34,927
- - 4,000 358 3,567 2,583 70,509
754 15,425 6,104 466 34,526 8179 65,454
- - - - 2,953 3,500 6,453
- 529 256 257 65,573 117 66,732
- - 256 257 64,710 117 65,340
- 529 - - 863 - 1,391
755 10,940 192 7 51,736 36,014 99,044
422,318 369,606 660,301 403,990 1,412,069 418,567 3,686,851
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Maximum exposure to credit risk related to off-balance sheet assets:

Holding Real

Individuals  companies Industry estate Service Other Total

Financial GUarantees ............cccoocvvvvviiveeieceeee, 487 1,855 6,835 441 308,381 6,928 324,929

Credit default swaps, investment grade - - - - 217,186 - 217,186

Unused overdrafts ........cccocoviiiiiiiiie 36,044 - 3,455 559 8,101 2,768 50,927

Loan CommitmeNnts ..........ccoevviiiiieiee e - 20,908 25,142 - 260,470 11,170 317,689
Total on-balance sheet maximum

exposure to credit risk ... 36,531 22,763 35,432 1,000 794,138 20,866 910,731

Market Risk Strategy

The Bank's strategy is to invest its own capital on a limited and carefully selected basis in transactions, underwritings and other activities that
involve market risk. The main types of market risk are equity price risk, interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

The Bank keeps firm track of the market risk embedded in market investments at group level and makes sure that the total measured market risk
does not exceed the market risk limits set by the Bank’s Board of Directors.

It is essential that procedures in deciding proprietary trading limits are clear and that roles and responsibilities of everyone involved are
unambiguous. The Board of Directors decides how much market risk exposure the proprietary trading units within the bank are allowed to
assume expressed as a maximum overnight as well as intraday exposure in equities, fixed income and derivatives. The Board entrusts the Group
CEO and the CEOs of the subsidiaries with the enforcement of this policy and the Risk Management with the evaluation and monitoring of
positions and limits.

The Board of Directors have set a global equity limit based on equity exposure as a percentage of risk capital. At year end 2007 the global equity
limit was 35% of risk capital and thereof the total unlisted exposure or private equity should not exceed 15% of risk capital.

The Board of Directors have also limited interest rate risk, measuring the change in value of underlying positions when shifting all yield curves
100bp up, to 8% of risk capital and thereof 3% to trading book exposure.

Derivatives

103. The Bank'’s use of derivatives is mainly through derivative sales, but derivatives are also in trading portfolios. The types of derivatives used by the
Bank include swaps, futures, forwards, options, credit derivatives, and other similar types of contracts.

Derivative sales offer companies and institutional investors foreign exchange and a range of interest rate and currency derivatives for position
taking and risk management. The market risk associated with derivatives sales is hedged on a portfolio basis and on a back-to-back basis.

The Bank's trading portfolios take positions in traded and over-the-counter instruments, including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term
market movements in equities and bonds and in currency prices and interest rates, and they also use derivatives to hedge certain market
exposures. The level of exposure is controlled using individual trading limits as with other market risk.
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Interest rate risk

104. Interest-rate risk increased quite significantly at year-end 2004 following the introduction of fixed-interest mortgage products in our banking
book. The table below shows the interest rate risk by currency and duration. Trading interest rate risk refers to exposures in trading book where
positions are marked-to-market and profit or loss is recognised immediately but banking interest rate risk refers to exposure in banking book
where profit or loss is realised over the lifetime of the exposure.

At year end 2007 the Bank's interest rate risk based on 100bp shift of the yield curve was in the banking 3,5% (2006: 5,1%) of risk capital and
in the trading book 0.8% (2006: 0,6%) of risk capital.

The Bank is exposed to inflation risk when there is a mismatch between inflation linked assets and liabilities.

The total amount of indexed assets of the Bank amounted to ISK 339,670 million (2006: ISK 325,845 million), and the total amount of indexed
liabilities amounted to ISK 192,554 million (2006: 180,241 million), respectively, at year-end.

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-earning assets (including investments) and
interest bearing liabilities mature or re-price at different times or in differing amounts. In the case of floating rate assets and liabilities the Bank is
also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference in re-pricing characteristics of the various floating rate indices, such as the savings rate and six
months LIBOR and different types of interest. Risk management activities are aimed at optimising net interest income, given market interest rate
levels consistent with the Bank’s business strategies. Interest rate risk is monitored centrally with duration reports and yield curve stress testing
for each currency.

Interest rate risk by currency and duration. Interest rate risk is measured by shifting all yield curves by 100 bp simultaneously. The table lists the
resulting changes in values broken down by currency and duration buckets for both banking and trading book.

The folllowing table shows the fair value change of interest rate risk by currency and maturity in millions of ISK in the Bank. Risk is measured by
assuming a 100bp simultaneous upward shift in all yields curves in the relevant duration band.

Fair value
2007 Within 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 change
Currency: month months months years years Total
ISK TradiNg c.ooeeeeie e (1) 127 251 454 (579) 252
Banking ......oooiii 13 (68) (682) 1,724 (17,957) (16,970)
DKK  Trading c.oooveeiioiieceeie e 36 70 116 (1,113) (3,673) (4,564)
Banking ......oooii 26 91 (12) 479 (1,679) (1,095)
EUR TrAAING o (111) (112) 298 505 351 931
Banking ..o 65 139 349 648 (57) 1,144
GBP  Trading ...oooveeiioiecce 9 (85) (14) (15) 5 (101)
BaNKING ..o 40 185 (666) (72) (84) (597)
USD  Trading .oveoeioiiieieic e (29) (66) (77) (285) 125 (332)
Banking ......oooii 25 24 4 964 (115) 902
Other  Trading ..o.oooioiieiie e 80 (7) (193) (11 63 (68)
Banking ......oooiii (1) 213 (51) 2,022 (2,701) (518)
2006
ISK Trading oo (712) 33 535 1,916 (254) 1,518
BaNKING ..o (903) (109) (313) (738) (15,048) (17,111)
DKK  Trading ..oooeieiiieoe e 106 1,120 134 103 (2,745) (1,282)
Banking ...... (10) (37) (30) 360 (3,673) (3,390)
EUR Trading ...... (40) 135 416 (529) 1,493 1,475
Banking ... 55 50 (123) 518 (692) (192)
GBP  Trading .... 2 503 (126) (151) (2) 226
BANKING ..o (19) (87) (644) (120) (853) (1,723)
USD  Trading coeeooeiiiiiie e 1 (302) 83 828 2 612
BaNKING ..o (8) (34) (86) (72) (133) (333)
Other  Trading ....oooiiiiii e (712) 284 (99) 738 (15) 196
BaNKING ..o (11) (109) (205) 51 (369) (643)
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Market price risk

105. Market price risk is the risk of loss due to changes in market prices. The Bank’s main exposures are through equities and fixed income products,
but the management of currency risk is handled separately. Market price risk measured with Value-at-Risk (99%, 10 days) was ISK 5.4 billion
(2006: ISK 5.5 billion) at year end 2007. Value-at-Risk is primarily used for sensitivity analysis and is not applied within the Bank’s limit framework.

The following table shows the calculated VaR (99% confidence interval 10 day holding period). Results are itemised by type of market risk and
market location:

2007 Scandi-

Iceland navia Other
EQUITY PIICE TISK oottt 1,901 3,083 405
QN (= (e A ] PR URRRN 175 500 20
DIVEISITICATION ...t (687)
L7221 U 5,398
2006
EQUILY PIICE FISK .ttt etttk h ettt ettt ettt 989 4,374 10
RN (= (e A ] PR URRRN 306 697
DIVEISITICATION ...t (900)
L7221 U 5,476

The following table shows high, low and average values for the calculated VaR (99% confidence interval 10 day holding period).

2007

High Low Average
EQUILY PIICE FISK .ttt ettt ettt ettt et e ettt e e 9,432 2,613 5,030
QN (= (e A ] PR RUURRRNY 988 493 696
(01T =110 41T 9,434 2,659 5,064
2006
EQUITY PIICE TISK oottt 6,422 1,837 3,623
INEEIEST TISK .o 1,522 474 814
OVETAII TISK <.ttt e e e et e e et e eae e e ae e et ee e eae e eabessaes e seeeeaeeanbensnnseenneesaneasenann 6,302 2,218 3,719

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some limitations,
including the following:

A 10-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is considered to be a realistic
assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period.

A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there is a one percent
probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during that trading day.

The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible scenarios, especially
those of an exceptional nature.

The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank's position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reduces if the
market price volatility declines and vice versa.
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106.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk of loss due to adverse movements in foreign exchange rates. The Bank is exposed to some foreign exchange risk, in
particular regarding the repatriation of non-ISK results. The Bank hedges part of the equity base against adverse movements in foreign exchange
rates. The objective of the hedging is to minimize fluctuations in the capital ratio due to currency fluctuations. Net exposures per currency are

monitored centrally in the Bank.

By obtaining the optimal currency hedging ratio the devaluation of the ISK currency can be immunized. If the ISK exchange rate index
depreciated by 25% from its year end 2007 level then it would affect the CAD-ratio of the Bank by 0%.

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by currency:

The total amount of assets in foreign currencies in the Banks Financial Statement is ISK 4,626 billion (2006: ISK 3,437 billion), and the total
amount of liabilities amounted to ISK 4,456 billion (2006: ISK 3,307 billion), respectively, at year-end. Included in these assets and liabilities are

forward contracts and interest rate swaps.

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by currency:

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks ....................
Loans to credit iNStitutions ...........cccocvevieriiiiieens,
Loans to CUSTOMENS ......oviiiiiiiiiiiieceee e
Bonds and debt instruments ............cccoooiiiiii
Shares and equity instruments ............cccccooeverrenenn
DErVAtIVES .....eiiieiieei et
Derivatives used for hedging ..........cccccovviiiiiiennnn.
Securities used for hedging ............cccoovevieiiiiies
Investments in associates .........cccoovveiiiiiiiiiieiiene
Intangible assets ..o
INVeStMent Property .........occovvvevereerieieeiceeeeeenes
Property and equipment ...........ccoociiiiiiiiiii
TaX @SSELS .t
Other @sSets .....oooiiiiiiiiii e
TOtal @SSELS ...vveveeieesee e

Liabilities

Due to credit institutions and central banks ............
DEPOSIES ..ot
Financial liabilities measured at fair value ...
BOITOWINGS ...
Subordinated 10aNS ..........c.oocoiviiiiiiiiie i
Tax labilities .....oooviiii
Other liabilities ........coocooviiiiiiii
Equity and minority interest ...
Total iabilities ....coveeierieecee e

Net on-balance sheet position ...........cccccvceerrurenee
Net off-balance sheet position ............cccccceevennene

Net position 2007 ..........cccooiviiiiiiicecceee
Net position 2006 ..........ccceeiveeevieriieenien e
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ISK EUR DKK GBP usb Other Total
1,034 7,615 3,799 79,854 530 5,127 97,959
52,326 242,391 81,640 71,692 74,360 66,032 588,441
440,653 713,534 622,303 742,916 300,194 484,808 3,304,408
22,071 131,361 157,031 8,676 43,422 4,789 367,350
45,139 20,304 15,973 15,329 22,819 41,233 160,797
31,000 61,350 12,935 9,714 12,328 7,529 134,856
154 2,559 5,886 1 13,134 769 22,503
86,810 5,749 1,666 47,392 473 17,859 159,949
2,320 113 902 3,815 2,871 73,810 83,831
7,619 413 31,199 26,346 143 1,054 66,774
1,305 13,598 9,951 3,301 - - 28,155
8,343 3,932 398 19,247 56 738 32,714
14 220 - 4,717 - 1,948 6,899
22,687 21,855 182,503 33,350 1,900 30,414 292,709
721,475 1,224,994 1,126,186 1,066,350 472,230 736,110 5,347,345
15,755 160,438 135,497 172 18,962 8,264 339,088
266,283 331,026 93,841 492,665 76,633 121,009 1,381,457
22,230 108,775 62,541 8,720 9,329 6,350 217,945
185,816 1,373,278 165,555 199,780 423,172 268,359 2,615,960
11,428 115,318 - 6,252 130,961 3,330 267,289
7,296 3,658 6,083 5,315 - 126 22,478
25,845 24,924 30,914 25,486 6,041 33,487 146,697
345,607 10,141 427 256 - - 356,431
880,260 2,127,558 494,858 738,646 665,098 440,925 5,347,345
(158,785)  (902,564) 631,328 327,704  (192,868) 295,185
(205,290) 1,043,441 (518,621)  (255,375) 190,235  (254,390)
(364,075) 140,877 112,707 72,329 (2,633) 40,795
(172,784) 53,438 59,563 43,737 (1,155) 17,201
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Liquidity Risk Strategy

107. Liquidity risk is an unavoidable source of risk in the Bank’s operations. Liquidity risk is the current or prospective risk that the Bank, though
solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available to meet its liabilities when they fall due, or can secure them only at excessive
cost. Liquidity risk arises from the inability to manage unplanned decreases or changes in funding sources. The funding liquidity risk limit is
quantified by calculating liquidity ratios, including the number of days currently covered by expected cash flow.

The Bank calculates the Secured Liquidity from a pool of secured liquid assets (secured assets are: deposits, repo-able bonds, the securitisation
pipeline, and unused revolvers with maturity above 360 days and no MAC clauses) against future liabilities. With the Secured Liquidity the Bank
has to be able to serve and repay all maturing debts for 360 days without any access to capital markets. Each of the subsidiaries quantifies the
Secured Liquidity in the same way as the Secured Liquidity is consolidated on a group level.

At the year-end the number of days covered by the Secured Liquidity was 440 days.

Liquidity of Kaupthing Bank: Up to 1-3 3-6 6-12 12-18 18-24

1 month months months months months months
Secured QUIAITY .....ooovioiiicecceec e 647,000 420,000 247,000 102,000 (95,000)  (471,000)

108. The breakdown by contractual maturity of assets and liabilities.
On Upto 3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

Assets demand months months years years Total
Cash and balances with central banks ..............ccccoevvviii, 97,959 - - - - 97,959
Loans to credit iNStTULIONS .........oooiiiiieie e 222,264 338,345 17,074 7,780 2,978 588,441
LOANS 1O CUSTOMES ..ot 246,355 659,348 436,019 1,105,372 857,314 3,304,408
Bonds and debt inStruments ...........ccooooiiiii e 34,364 69,026 15,555 132,645 115,760 367,350
Shares and equity iINSTrUMENTS .........oooveiiiiiiiicecceeceee 61,294 99,338 - - 165 160,797
DEIVALIVES ... 28,735 36,636 11,598 46,479 11,408 134,856
Derivatives used for hedging ..........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiiiee - 2,845 88 10,047 9,523 22,503
Securities used for hedging ............cccoevviviiiiiiiiiecee e 159,949 - - - - 159,949
INvestments in @SSOCIALES ... ..coviiiiiiiie i - - - - 83,831 83,831
Intangible assets ....... - - - - 66,774 66,774

Investment property - 28,155 28,155
Property and equipment ..........coociiiiiiii - - - - 32,714 32,714
Tax assets ..... - - 1,766 5,133 - 6,899

Other assets 239,989 - 52,720 - - 292,709
Total Assets 31.12.2007 .....oeoceieceeieeeeeie et 1,090,909 1,205,538 534,820 1,307,456 1,208,622 5,347,345
Total Assets 31.12.2006 .......ccooveeeeeieeeeeee e 693,178 900,669 394,934 1,033,881 1,032,734 4,055,396
Liabilities

Due to credit institutions and central banks ..............ccccoceeini . 15,756 268,668 21,429 31,335 1,900 339,088
DIBPOSIES .ttt 409,995 752,544 151,599 23,237 44,082 1,381,457
Financial liabilities measured at fair value ..............ccccooveiiiii.. 118,443 17,477 19,843 38,114 24,068 217,945
BOITOWINGS ..o 62,024 527,799 284,895 1,427,770 313,472 2,615,960
Subordinated [0aNS .......coooee e - - 337 58,589 208,363 267,289
Tax Habilities .....ocvviiiiiiec e - - 9,637 12,841 - 22,478
Other iabilities .....c.ooeeieee e, 64,560 - 79,835 2,302 - 146,697
Total Liabilities 31.12.2007 ......cceiceieiiieeeee et 670,778 1,566,488 567,575 1,594,188 591,885 4,990,914
Total Liabilities 31.12.2006 ..........coceieiieiiieieeceeeee e 336,083 1,004,574 608,811 1,179,243 591,793 3,720,504
Assets - liabilities 31.12.2007 .......ccoveieeee e 420,131 (360,950) (32,755) (286,732) 616,737 356,431
Assets - liabilities 31.12.2006 .........c..cooveviiieiiieiieeeeeeeee 357,095 (103,905) (213,877) (145,362) 440,941 334,892
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109. Liquidity risk - Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
Gross nominal

2007 Carrying inflow / On 0-3 3-12 1-5  More than
amount  (outflow) Demand months months years 5 years

Non-derivative liabilities
Trading liabilities ..........cocooiiiii - 99,170 99,170 - - - -
Due from Credit Institutions ............ccccoceeverrrne. 339,088 339,088 15,756 268,668 21,429 31,335 1,900
Deposits from CUStOMErs .........c..ceevvieiiiiiienes 1,381,457 1,381,458 409,995 752,544 151,600 23,237 44,082
BOITOWINGS ..o 2,615,960 2,619,945 63,207 529,970 285,332 1,427,837 313,599

Subordinated liabilities 267,289 267,289 - 2,893 264,396

4,603,794 4,706,950 588,128 1,551,182 458,361 1,485,302 623,977

Derivative liabilities

Trading: outflow ... . - 2,281,449 82,055 1,179,469 180,918 580,644 258,363
Trading: iNflowW ..o 100,272 (2,181,177) (61,979) (1,160,687) (168,304) (544,583)  (245,624)
Risk management: outflow .............c..ccooiiiinnn. - 196,927 - 546 17,408 94,025 84,948
Risk management: inflow ............cccocooviiiiiiiinnns 10,815  (186,112) - (223) (17,282) (91,633) (76,974)

111,087 111,087 20,076 19,105 12,740 38,453 20,713

4,714,881 4,818,037 608,204 1,570,287 471,101 1,523,755 644,690

2006

Non-derivative liabilities

Trading liabilities ..........cccoooiiiii - 2,306 2,306 - - - -
Due from Credit Institutions ............cccooceeverrrnn. 110,456 110,455 10,384 90,269 4,045 3,605 2,152
Deposits from CUStOMErS .........c.cceevvieiiieiiene 750,658 750,658 226,966 409,317 86,755 21,459 6,161
BOITOWINGS ..o 2,399,939 2,402,923 253,452 554,624 696,104 820,554 78,189
Subordinated liabilities .............cccooveviiiiiiiiei, 216,030 216,030 - 3,437 212,593

3,477,083 3,482,372 493,108 1,054,210 786,904 849,055 299,095

Derivative liabilities

Trading: OUfIOW .....coovviiiiiiiiic - 1,404,270 - 425,523 129,608 664,364 184,775
Trading: iNflOW .....oooviiiiii 47,479 (1,356,791) - (412,460) (122,494) (641,713)  (180,124)
Risk management: outflow .............c.ccooiiiinin. - 190,449 - - 11,894 65,867 112,688
Risk management: inflow ............ccocooviiiiiiiinnns 8,767  (181,682) - (2) (10,739) (61,783)  (109,158)
56,246 56,246 0 13,061 8,269 26,735 8,181

3,533,329 3,538,618 493,108 1,067,271 795,173 875,790 307,276

110. Capital management and allocation

Capital management

The Bank's capital policy is to maintain a strong capital base to support business development and to meet regulatory capital requirements, even
in times of stress. Long term capital planning at Kaupthing Bank currently is based on a benchmark minimum tier 1 capital ratio of 8% and a
minimum equity ratio (CAD) of 11%. The Bank recognises that a strong capital base must be balanced against the greater leverage required to
achieve its stated goal of achieving a long-term return on equity greater than 15% for its shareholders. Solid growth must be sustained without
compromising profitability.

The Bank's capital is divided into two tiers:

Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, perpetual bonds (which are classified as innovative tier 1 securities), retained
earnings, translation reserve and minority interest after adjusting for items reflected in shareholders equity which are treated differently for
capital adequacy purposes. The book values of goodwill and intangible assets are deducted in arriving at tier 1 capital.

Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated loan capital and unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as
available-for-sale.

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of innovative tier 1 securities cannot exceed 15 per cent of overall tier 1
capital, qualifying tier 2 capital cannot exceed tier 1 capital, and qualifying term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50 per cent of tier 1
capital. From the total of tier 1 and tier 2 capital are deducted the carrying amounts of unconsolidated investments, investments in the capital of
banks, and certain regulatory items.
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110. cont.

Kaupthing's Board of Directors periodically reviews both the level and the optimal composition of capital. Capital can be raised and held either
at the group level or at the subsidiary level.

There have been no material changes in the Bank's management of capital during the year 2007.

Capital adequacy and the Basel | and Il capital adequacy standards

The Icelandic Financial Supervisory Authority (FME) supervises Kaupthing on a consolidated basis and, as such, receives information on the capital
adequacy of, and sets capital requirements for, the Bank as a whole. Individual banking subsidiaries are directly regulated by their local banking
supervisors, who set and monitor their capital adequacy requirements relative to risk-weighted assets. In most jurisdictions, non-banking financial
subsidiaries are also subject to the supervision and capital requirements of local regulatory authorities.

Banking operations are categorised as either trading book or banking book and the calculation of risk-weighted assets is conducted differently
for the assets in different books. Banking book risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weightings classified according
to the nature of each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. Banking book off-balance-sheet items
giving rise to credit, foreign exchange or interest rate risk are assigned risk-weights appropriate to the category of the counterparty, again
accounting for eligible collateral or guarantees. Trading book risk-weighted assets are determined by taking into account market related risks
such as foreign exchange, interest rate and equity position risks, and counterparty risk.

Bank supervision is currently transitioning from the Basel | capital adequacy standard to the Basel Il supervisory framework. Basel Il introduces a
three pillar approach to banking supervision. Pillar 1 addresses minimum capital requirements through the introduction of new calculation rules
for risk weighted assets. In Pillar 2 the bank's internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) is subject to the FME's supervisory review
process (SREP). Pillar 3 introduces requirements for transparent reporting of the bank's risk profile and risk-management methods and processes.

The Bank and its individually regulated operations have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the year 2007.
During 2007 Kaupthing continued to work under Basel | while preparing a migration to Basel Il. Kaupthing has applied to FME for permission to
use the Basel Il Foundation Internal Ratings Based method to calculate the capital requirements for credit risk as of January 1, 2008. FME's ruling
is pending. Standardized Basel Il methods will be adopted for market risk and operational risk.

An initial ICAAP document has been submitted to FME for review. It outlines Kaupthing's internal capital requirements, which are based on Pillar
1 regulatory capital with diversification discounts and add-ons for stress-scenarios, credit concentration risk, interest rate risk in the banking book
and other risks not adequately addressed by Pillar 1.

In the absence of FME's rulings it is premature to draw conclusions about the effect of Basel Il on Kaupthing's capital requirements or whether
the capital charge on Kaupthing will be reduced when the Basel Il rules have gradually taken full effect which is expected to occur at the end of
2010.

Equity at the end of the year 2007 amounts to ISK 356,431 million. The equity ratio, calculated in accordance to Article 84 of the Act on
Financial Undertakings, was 11.8%. According to the law the ratio may not be lower than 8.0%.

The ratio is calculated as follows:

2007 2006
Book  Weighted Book Weighted
value value value value
Risk base:
Assets recorded in the Financial Statements .. ... 5,347,345 3,917,079 4,055,396 2,875,539
Assets deducted from EQUILY .....oovviiiiiiiiic e (135,600) (66,922)
Guarantees and other items not included in the Balance Sheet .............cccooiviiiii, 331,953 259,023
4,113,432 3,067,640
Equity:

Tier | capital:
B UITY ettt 356,431 334,892
INTANGIDIE ASSETS ... (61,757) (65,276)
Assets deducted from EQUILY .....ooiiiioiiiii e - -
SUDOIAINGEA [0ANS ... .. 100,830 51,817

Tier Il capital:
SUDOIAINGLEA TOBNS ...t 164,483 160,717
Investment in credit INSTITUTIONS ... (73,843) (21,324)
486,144 460,826
EQUILY TaTI0 .t 11.8% 15.0%
TREreOT TIEI 1 TATIO ..iviiii e 9.6% 10.5%
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Capital allocation

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent, driven by the optimisation of the return achieved on the
capital allocated. The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily upon the regulatory capital, but in some cases
the regulatory requirements do not reflect fully the varying degree of risk associated with different activities. In such cases the internal capital
requirements may be inflated to reflect different risk profiles. The process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken
independently of those responsible for the operation, by Group Risk and Group Credit, and is subject to review by the Group Credit Committee
or ALCO as appropriate.

Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to
particular operations or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making. Account also is taken of synergies with other operations and
activities, the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with Bank’s longer term strategic objectives. The Bank’s
policies in respect of capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors.

Operational Risk Strategy

111. Operational Risk is inherent in every activity undertaken within the Bank, in outsourced activities and in all interaction with external parties. The
Bank aims to reduce the frequency and impact of operational risk events in a cost-effective manner. The Bank can reduce it's exposure to
operational risk with selection of internal control and quality management, well educated and qualified staff. The Bank can choose to transfer
operational risk through outsourcing the activity or to transfer the financial consequences through insurance programs.

The Bank keeps firm track of the operational risk that the Bank is exposed to. Measurements are made by the means of Control and Risk Self
Assessment, registration of loss events, near misses and quality deficiencies and by monitoring potential risk indicators and other early-warning
signals. Operational risk is reduced through staff training, process re-design and enhancement of the control environment.

Risk Capital for Operational Risk is measured as a fixed percentage of gross income for each business unit, measured according to the
Standardised approach outlined in the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD). The fixed percentage serves as a proxy for the likely scale of
operational risk exposure within the business line. The fixed percentage is as follows:

Business lines:

COMPOFATE FINANCE ...ttt ettt ettt o2ttt et e et e et st e es e e s e e st e bt e ke st e et e e ent et et e e e enee s 18.0%
=TT T T TaTe T =TSSP OS TR 18.0%
PayYMENT AN SETHEMENT ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt h ettt ettt ettt 18.0%
COMMEICIAI DANKING -ttt ettt f et et e sttt e etk e et e sttt et et 15.0%
AAGEBNCY SEIVICES ..ottt ettt 2 etk h e H ekt H bRt h Rt h ettt 15.0%
ASSET IMANAGRIMENT ...ttt e et e ookt e ookt £ £ ookt £ e oo b et e oo ekt bt £ ook e oo e bt e e e e et e e e e e e e e e 12.0%
RETAI DIOKEIAGE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt s e ettt ettt 12.0%

The Bank's business units are mapped onto above business lines.
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Fair Value of financial instruments

112. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, i.e. not during a forced sale or liquidation. The existence of published price quotations in an active market is the best evidence of fair
value and when they exist they are used by the Bank to measure financial assets and financial liabilities. If quoted prices for a financial instrument
fail to represent actual and regularly occurring transactions in active market transactions or if quoted prices are not available at all, fair value is
established by using an appropriate valuation technique.

The following table presents the fair value of financial instruments, including those not reflected in the Financial Statements at fair value. It is
accompanied by a discussion of the methods used to determine fair value for financial instruments.

2007 Carrying Unrealised
Valuation value Fair value  gain (loss)
Financial assets technique 2007 2007 2007
Cash and balances with central banks ............cccoooiiiiiiiiii e C 97,959 97,959 -
Loans tO Credit INSHTUTIONS ........oii e C 588,441 587,263 (1,178)
LOANS 10 CUSTOMENS ....oeiieeie et d 3,304,408 3,284,405 (20,003)
Bonds and debt INSTrUMENTS .....ooeiiii e a,b 367,350 367,350 -
Shares and instruments with variable iNCOME .............ccoiiiiiiiie e a,b 160,797 160,797 -
Derivatives ......cocccveeeiiieeei, C 134,856 134,856 -
Derivatives used for hedging C 22,503 22,503 -
Securities used for NEAGING ........ocviiiiii e a 159,949 159,949 -
Financial liabilities
Due to credit institutions and central Danks ...........ooooiiiiiiii e C 339,088 339,088 -
DEPOSIES .vvviiiieiieiie e . d 1,381,457 1,380,523 934
Financial liabilities measured at fair value a,b 217,945 217,945 -
BOITOWINGS ..ttt C 2,615,960 2,599,269 16,691
SUBOIAINGEA [OANS ... .. C 267,289 265,368 1,921
Net unrealised loss not recognised in the INCOME STAtEMENT ........coiii ittt (1,635)
2006 Carrying Unrealised
Valuation value  Fairvalue  gain (loss)
Financial assets technique 2006 2006 2006
Cash and balances with central Danks ..o C 106,961 106,961 -
Loans to credit INSTITULIONS ........c.iiiii e C 485,334 489,318 3,984
LOANS 1O CUSTOMIEBIS ...ttt C 2,538,609 2,539,605 996
Bonds and debt iNStrUMENTS ..........coiiiiiii e a,b 318,264 318,264 -
Shares and instruments with variable INCOME ...t a,b 159,020 159,020 -
DIBIIVATIVES ..ottt C 65,454 65,454 -
Derivatives used for NeAGING ........co.ooiiiiiiece e C 6,453 6,453 -
Securities Used fOr NEAGING .......iiiiiiii e a 115,938 115,938 -
Financial liabilities
Due to credit institutions and central banks .............coocooiiiiiiii C 110,456 110,456 -
DIBPOSIES -ttt C 750,658 750,292 366
Financial liabilities measured at fair value ...............oooooiiiiiiii e a,b 71,264 71,264 -
BOITOWINGS ...ttt C 2,399,939 2,397,319 2,620
Subordinated loans C 216,030 217,850 (1,820)
Net unrealised gain not recognised in the INCOME SAtEMENT ..........cceiviiiirir e e re e ere e s 6,146
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Methods for establishing fair value

a

b

19

Fair value established from quoted market prices

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, unless the fair value can be evidenced
by comparison with other observable current market transactions, or is based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from
observable markets.

In some cases, the carrying value of the financial instrument is in note 69 used as an approximation for the fair value of the instrument. This is
straight-forward for cash and cash equivalents but is also used for short-term investments and borrowings to highly rated counterparties, such as
credit institutions, on contracts that carry interests close to or equal to market rates and expose the Bank to little or no credit risk.

For listed and liquid stocks and bonds, certain financial derivatives and other market traded securities, such as commodities, the fair value is
derived directly from the market prices. These instruments are disclosed in following balance sheet items; Trading assets and Trading liabilities.

Fair value established using valuation techniques with observable market information

For financial instruments, for which the market is not active, the Bank applies specific working procedures and valuation techniques to attain a
fair value using as much market information as available. Valuation techniques include using recent arm's length market transactions between
knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, option pricing models or other commonly accepted valuations techniques used by market participants to price the instrument.

For financial instruments for which quoted prices on active markets are not available, the fair values are derived using various valuation
techniques. This applies in particular to OTC-derivatives such as options, swaps, futures and unlisted equities but also some other assets and
liabilities.

In most cases the valuation are based on theoretical financial models, such as the Black-Scholes models or variations thereof. These techniques
also include forward pricing and swap models using present value calculations.

The fair value for deposits with stated maturities was calculated by discounting estimated cash flows using current market rates for similar
maturities. For deposits that can be withdrawn immediately, the fair value is the amount payable on demand, which is equal to the carrying
amount in the Balance Sheet.

Fair value established using valuation techniques with significant unobservable market information

In many cases there is little or no market data to rely on for fair value calculations. The most common valuation technique is present value
calculations. Such calculations involve the estimation of future cash flow and the assessment of appropriate discount rate. The discount rate
should both reflect current market rates and the uncertainty in the future cash flow. In such cases internal models and methods are used to
calculate the fair value. The models may be statistical in nature, based on internal or external history of financial instruments with similar
characteristics and/or based on internal knowledge and experience. For example, the credit margin on most loans to customers - which is added
to the current and suitable interest rate to arrive at an appropriate discount rate - is estimated using credit rating and loss parameters in case of
default that have been derived from internal models.

Equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price are evaluated using methods and guidelines from pertinent international
organisations. In most cases intrinsic value is the basis for the assessment but other factors, such as cash flow analysis, can also modify the results.

Although the Bank follows market standards and relies on well accepted methods there is still wide room for choice, both in the models
themselves and the assumptions that must be supplied and cannot be derived from market data. Consequently, different assumptions and
choices could lead to different estimates.
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113. Fair value of financial instruments.

For financial instruments whose fair value is estimated using valuation techniques with non-market observable inputs, the net unrealised amount
recorded in the Income Statement in the year due to changes in the inputs amounts to ISK 369 million (2006: ISK 291 million)

The table below shows the movement in the aggregated profit not recognised when financial instruments where first recorded ('Day 1 profit'),
because of the use of valuation techniques for which not all the inputs are observable in the market.

2007 2006
BalanCe @t T JANUAIY ...ttt 1,130 638
Deferral of profit ON NEW tranSACHIONS .......iiiiiiiii it 676 724
Recognised in the Income Statement during the period:
SUDSEQUENT 10 ODSEIVADIITY ©....viiiii ettt (82) (23)
Derecognition Of the INSTIUMENTS ..........iiiii oot (369) (291)
EXCNANGE IffEIENCES ...ttt ettt ettt 30 82
BalanCe @t 31 DECEMDET ........iiiiitet ettt ettt b bbbt ea bt st he s he s ae s aea b e e e e b et et et e et et enreee 1,385 1,130
Other information
Assets under management and under custody
114. Assets under management and assets under custody are specified as follows:
ASSETS UNTET MANAGEMENT ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e sttt e ke te et e e s e et e et e e sttt e e et e e ese e e et e e e e ene e 1,557,395 1,403,376
ASSEES UNTEE CUSTOAY ...ttt ettt et e et e et e e et e et e et e e st e e ea e e e e et eeneeeneeas 2,276,875 1,952,813

The Bank provides asset custody, asset management, investment management and advisory services to its clients. These services require the Bank
to make decisions on the treatment, acquisition or disposal of financial instruments. Assets in the Bank’s custody are not reported in its accounts.

Related parties

115. The Bank has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, associates, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company, the Managing Directors
of the Bank, the Managing Directors of the largest subsidiaries, close family members of individuals referred to above and entities with significant
influence as the largest shareholders of the Bank which are Exista BV. and related companies (23.26%) and Egla Invest BV. (9.9%). Information
regarding related parties are as follows:

Significant related companies:

Loans: 2007 2006
BalANCE @1 T JANUAIY ..ottt h ettt 109,556 36,888
AGAITIONS .ttt ettt ettt ettt R R R Rkt bt bbbttt 54,810 91,274
REAUCLIONS ...ttt h e H e h b E b E bbbt bbbttt ettt ene (57,641) (18,606)
Balance @t 31 DECEMDET ........eiiiit ettt ettt sttt eb b bt e a bt s he s he s ae s aea e b e e b e b et et et et et et benreee 106,725 109,556

The Bank has issued a contingent guarantee to a related party regarding exposure to a market price of equity shares with a maximum potential
exposure of EUR 300 million. At the end of the period the condition for the guarantee was not met. The related party has also issued a
guarantee to Kaupthing Bank for the same maximum potential amount.

The Bank has granted loans to the board members and its key management. The outstanding balance of loans to the board members,
management and close family members amounted to ISK 34,408 million at the end of the year 2007 and ISK 17,716 million at 31 December
2006. The terms and conditions are similar for the board members and key management as loans granted to other customers of the Bank. The
aforementioned amounts do not include loans related to the business activities of the board members and key management.

No unusual transactions took place with related parties in the year of 2007.
Transactions with related parties have been conducted on arm's length basis.
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Stock options

116. There is still one year left of the option scheme from 2004 with the Executive Chairman and the CEO. According to the scheme they are each
entitled to 812,000 shares in 2008. In March 2007 the Annual General Meeting approved to extend the scheme for three years. The amount is
to be the same as in the current option scheme or 812.000 shares for each every year in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Stock option holders are entitled
to exercise one third of their total stock option in March every year for three years. The option exercise price is ISK 1.007.

The Board of Directors of the Bank has also granted 28 employees stock options to buy 1,1 million shares over a three-year period, during which
they can exercise one third of the stock option each year. The period in which options can be exercised is from 20 January to 20 February each
year, with the first exercise period in 2010. The option has an exercise price of ISK 1.110 per share during the first exercise period, ISK 1.166 per
share during the 2011 exercise period and ISK 1.224 per share during the 2012 exercise period. The exercise of the options can be postponed
each time until last exercise date but the strike price will increase to the price indicated by the relevant exercise date.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Number of Contractual
shares in life of Exercise
Grant date / employees entitled: thousands Vesting conditions: options price
March 2004......coooieieeee 1,624 Four years of service. The stock option is 4 years 303
exercisable 2007-2008
December 2002........ccccoiiiiiii 277 Six years of service. One third of total stock option 6 years 51
is exercisable each year 2007-2008
November 2005........cccccvvveeeeeeeeicnn . 1,714 Three years of service. One third of total stock 3 years 600
option is exercisable each year 2007-2009
November 2005..............cooiiiin, 5,782 Three years of service. One third of total stock 3years 600/630/
option is exercisable each year 2007-2009 660
December 2006........cccccvviiiiiiiieeii, 415 Three years of service. One third of total stock 3 years
option is exercisable each year 2008-2010 840
December 2006.............cccoceiviiiannns 20,955 Five years of service. One third of total stock option 5years 830/872/
is exercisable each year 2010-2012 916
March 2007 ......cooiviiiiiieeecieee 4,872 Four years of service. The stock option is 4 years 1,007
exercisable 2009-2011
July 2007 ..o 1,110 Five years of service. One third of total stock option 5 years 1.110/
is exercisable each year 2010-2012 1.166/
1.224
Total share options..........cccccooeeeeirne. 36,749

Kaupthing Bank hf. Consolidated Financial Statements 2007 70 Amounts are in ISK millions




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

116. cont.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is as follows: 2007 2006
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
Outstanding at the beginning of the Year ..........cccociiiiiiiiic 735 38,034 494 20,811
Forfeited dUring the YEar ........cviii i 744 (1,779) 521 (1,447)
Exercised during the year .... 437 (5,488) 278 (3,641)
Granted dUring the YA ... oot 1,037 5,982 871 22,311
Outstanding at the end of the YEar .........ccooiiiiiii e 861 36,749 735 38,034

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have an exercise price in the range of 51.22 to 1,224 and a weighted average contractual life of
4.4 years. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was ISK 992.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes model. The contractual life of the option is used as an
input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are not incorporated into the Black-Scholes model.

The fair value of options granted to the Executive Chairman and the CEO determined using the Black-Scholes valuations model was ISK 1.433
millions which will be amortised over contractual life of options. The significant inputs into the model were share prices of 1.007, expected
volatility of 25%, option life disclosed above, annual risk free interest rate of 8,8%, and expected dividends yield of 2,0%. The expected volatility
is based on the historic volatility over the last 36 months before the grant date.

The fair value of options granted during the year determined using the Black-Scholes valuations model was ISK 223 millions which will be
amortised over contractual life of options. The significant inputs into the model were share prices of 1.110, 1.166 and 1.224, expected volatility
of 30%, option life disclosed above, annual risk free interest rate of 8,5%, and expected dividends yield of 2,0%. The expected volatility is based
on the historic volatility over the last 36 months before the grant date.

The fair value of options granted in 2006 determined using the Black-Scholes valuations model was ISK 3,449 millions which will be amortised
over contractual life of options. The significant inputs into the model were share prices of 840 (830, 872 and 916 for key management),
expected volatility of 22.2%, option life disclosed above, annual risk free interest rate of 8.9%, and expected dividends yield of 2.0%. The
expected volatility is based on the historic volatility over the last 36 months before the grant date.

The stock option plan led to personnel expenses of ISK1.505 millions in fiscal year 2007.

The Board of Directors of FIH Erhvervsbank has granted the employees of FIH a stock option scheme which can be exercised 2008, 2009 and
2010. The options can only be exercised for 30 days after the Financial Statements have been published. During 2007 ISK 465 million (2006:
ISK 347 million) has been entered among Salaries and related expenses and ISK 713 million (2006: ISK 360 million) in the Balance Sheet as

liability.
Events after the Balance Sheet date

117. In August 2007 the Bank entered into an agreement to purchase the entire share capital of NIBC N.V. for EUR 2,985 million. On 29 January 2008
the Bank came to an agreement with the Sellers that both parties relinquish from their prior agreement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsidiaries and branches

118. Shares in main subsidiaries and main branches are specified as follows:

Company: Country Currency
Arion Custody Service hf. .......ccooiiiiiiiiccece e Iceland ISK
FIH Erhversbank A/S ... Denmark  DKK
Kaupthing Bank Luxembourg S.A. ... Luxembourg EUR
Kaupthing Holding (Isle of Man) Ltd ..........cccoooviviiiiiiece UK GBP
Kaupthing Holding UK Ltd. (KTSF) .......ooooiiiiiiiiicee UK GBP
Kaupthing New York INC. ....c.ooooiiiiiiiiii e USA usb
Kaupthing NOrge AS ... Norway NOK
Kaupthing SVerige AB .........ccooiiiiiiiiieee e Sweden SEK
Kaupthing Lif hf. ..o Iceland ISK
Kirna ehf. oo Iceland ISK
New Bond Street Asset Management LLP .. .. UK GBP
NOIVESHA O] vt Finland EUR
Rekstrarfélag Kaupthings banka hf. ..., Iceland ISK
Sparisjodur Kaupthings hf. ..o Iceland ISK
Branch:

Kaupthing Bank hf. NUF ..........ccoooiiiiiiiecceeee e Norway NOK
Kaupthing Bank hf. Suomen sivuliike .............cc.occoooioiiiiiie Finland EUR
Kaupthing Bank hf. DIFC Branch ...........ccccooiviiiiiiiiccee Dubai usD
Kaupthing Bank hf. QFC Branch ...........cccoovveviioiiiiiicccece Qatar usb
Kaupthing Bank hf. Island, Filial .............c..cccooiiiiiiiiice, Sweden SEK

The Bank wields 56.0% of the votes in Norvestia Oyj and the company is thus considered to be a subsidiary of the Bank.

Business

Group'

oD

IB, CM, Tr, Ba, AM & PB
IB, CM, Tr, Ba, AM & PB
Tr, Ba, AM & PB

IB, CM, Tr, Ba, AM & PB
@V

IB, CM, Tr, AM & PB

IB, CM, Tr, Ba, AM & PB
Ba

IB, Tr

Tr

M

AM & PB

Ba

Tr
IB, CM, Tr, Ba, AM & PB
IB
IB
Tr

Share
Capital
in millions
115
5,917
16,611
1,043
35,890
524
1,433
2,807
17
36,370
43
4,455
44

100

1. IB: Investment Banking, CM: Capital Markets, Tr: Treasury, Ba: Banking, AM & PB: Asset Management and Private Banking, OD: Other Divisions.
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Equity
interest
accum. %
100.0
99.9
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0
32.7
100.0
100.0

Amounts are in ISK millions




